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An overview of our 

Performance
FINANCIAL

$51.2M
Total Revenue
Increase of $22.8M or 80% from same period 
last year

$17.4M
EBITDAF

$2.7M
Increase of 28% in EBITAF from the same period 
last year.

$4.4M
Net profit after tax 
(NPAT) 

$5.7M
Dividend paid to Central Lakes Trust - Total 
dividends paid in last 10 years now exceeds 
$39M

HEALTH AND SAFETY

0
Lost–time injuries during the 12 Months ended 
31 Mar 2014

SNAPSHOT
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• TO PROVIDE OUR OWNERS, THE 
CENTRAL LAKES TRUST, WITH A 
GROWING RETURN ON THEIR 
INVESTMENT 

• A DETERMINATION TO BUILD UPON 
AND MAINTAIN AN ALREADY SOLID 
BUSINESS FOR THE BENEFIT OF FUTURE 
GENERATIONS

• TO DIVERSIFY REVENUE STREAMS, 
WHILST KEEPING WITHIN OUR 
KNOWLEDGE BASE, TO REDUCE OUR 
MARKET RISK

• TO ADD VALUE TO EXISTING ASSETS 
AND OUR CORE ENERGY PRODUCT 
BY OFFERING A COMPLETE ENERGY 
SOLUTION TO BOTH SMALL AND LARGER 
CUSTOMERS

• A FOCUS ON GROWING WHILST 
SUSTAINING A FUTURE FOR OTHERS WITH 
RENEWABLE INPUTS

• DEVELOPMENT WITH THE ENVIRONMENT 
AS A CORE CONSIDERATION

DRIVERS FOR OUR GROWTH
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• 100% NEW ZEALAND 
OWNED

• COMMUNITY OWNED

• ENERGY SPECIALISTS SINCE 
1927

• 23 OPERATIONAL SITES 
NATIONWIDE

• HYDRO & WIND 
GENERATION 

• INDUSTRIAL HEAT

• RETAIL ENERGY PROVIDER

• ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
SOLUTIONS

SNAPSHOT
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LOWER SOUTH ISLAND

1. Glenorchy Hydro Station
2. Roaring Meg Hydro Station
3. Wye Creek Hydro Station
4. Fraser Hydro Station
5. Falls Hydro Station
6. Teviot Hydro Scheme
7. Mt Stuart Wind Farm
8. Monowai Hydro Station
9. Clyde Hospital Boiler
10. Southland Energy Centre
11. Silver Fern Farms - Finegand
12. Dunedin Energy Centre
13. WENZ Hub - Dunedin
14. WENZ Hub - Naseby
15. Washdyke Energy Cluster
16. Barkers - Geraldine

UPPER SOUTH ISLAND

17. Bromley Energy Centre
18. Wood Energy New Zealand 

(WENZ) Hub - Christchurch 
19. Nelson Marlborough DHB 

Nelson Hospital Boiler

OFFICES

24. Auckland
25. Wellington
26. Christchurch
27. Dunedin
28. Alexandra (Head Office)
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PIONEER GENERATION LOCATION MAP
OPERATING PLANT & OFFICES

NORTH ISLAND

20. Silverstream Landfill Gas 
Generation

21. Omarunui Landfill Gas 
Generation

22. Winstone Pulp International 
Heat Plant

23. Auckland District Health 
Board Cogen
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CORPORATE
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Annual report for year ended 31 March 2014

Pioneer Generation Ltd is 100% owned by The Central Lakes Trust and pays an 
annual dividend which the Trust then puts into the community through grants. The 
beneficiaries of The Central Lakes Trust are the ratepayers living in the old Central 
Electric Limited catchment prior to the 1998 Electricity Industry Reform Act.

This report is a view of the past 12 months 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 designed to 
inform our stakeholders of our performance relative to our key targets. Importantly, 
it details how this fits with our long term strategic goals and reports on the important 
factors contributing to Pioneer Generation’s end of year results, both financial and 
non-financial.

COMMUNITY OWNED RENEWABLE ENERGY
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CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S REPORT

The major achievements for the 2014 financial 
year are centred on the successful amalgamation 
and integration of Energy for Industry Limited (EFI) 
into Pioneer Generation Limited (PGL). The further 
development of a diversified investment strategy 
resulted in PGL being selected as development 
partner for the Christchurch District Energy Scheme, 
as well as securing two new generation investment 
options.

Amalgamation of EFI into PGL created the 
opportunity to align and unlock the synergies 
between the two businesses. Combining the 
management expertise of the organisations resulted 
in a dynamic and diversified leadership team with 
a strong focus on business excellence and growth. 
Grant Smith, CEO of EFI prior to amalgamation, took 
on a new role leading business development and 
strategy for the wider organisation. 

To achieve the targets set by our shareholder, the 
key strategic objectives for PGL remain focussed 
around adding value to existing investments 

and strong growth 
through new asset 
investment to ensure 
dividend growth for 
our owner.

The Retail Solutions 
business established during 2013, adding value to 
PGL’s core products, has now been established as 
a key business unit contributing 30% of the overall 
revenue. Although the retail market remains 
extremely competitive, the PGL Retail Solutions 
customised offering has been successful to create 
customer partnerships, enabling a longer term 
value add relationship position. We will continue 
to develop the PGL Retail Solutions business to not 
only support and add value to the core business 
activities, but also to provide a cost effective 
market risk management position for our electrical 
generation.

Further progress has been made to establish PGL’s 
position in the renewable and sustainable arena. 

Top: Stuart Heal, Chair

Above: Fraser Jonker, CEO

2014 CHAIRMAN & CEO’S REPORT
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We secured and started construction on the new 
Omarunui Landfill Gas Generation development in 
partnership with Hastings District Council, secured 
a channel distributorship for a leading energy 
efficiency management system from the UK and 
continued to be focussed on our CEMARS® carbon 
management programme.

Although PGL had significant asset investment 
growth through the acquisition of EFI during 2012, 
we continue to invest in seeking new development 
options. To maintain the diversified investment 
portfolio, we re-focussed our limited development 
resources on the best earning options given the 
current market position and outlook, resulting in 
several less attractive development options being 
shelved. On the electrical generation front, PGL 
secured the consented Flat Hill Wind Farm site 
and Matiri hydro development options. Under the 
current suppressed market outlook, both of these 
development options will deliver returns well in 
excess of our hurdle rates, with low and manageable 
construction risks.

“To maintain the 
diversified investment 
portfolio, we re-
focussed our limited 
development 
resources on the best 
earning options given 
the current market 
position and outlook.”

In the thermal energy part of our business, 
securing a development position for the proposed 
Christchurch District Energy Scheme is not only seen 
as a significant achievement on its own, but is also 
providing potential growth investment opportunities 
backed by long term secured customer contracts. 
Competing and succeeding against several 
international competitors has been achieved 
through access to a highly skilled team, backed by 
proven local district energy schemes owned and 
operated by PGL-EFI in Dunedin and Washdyke.

In the current economic climate and suppressed 
electricity wholesale market, we managed a 
reasonable financial result close to forecast. 
The company continued to deliver on the 
maintenance works programmes to budget and 
ensured compliance. Major capital projects 
successfully completed during the year include; the 
replacement of the Fraser power station pipeline 
($1.2m), new boiler installations at Dunstan and 
Invercargill Hospitals ($1.5m) and Barkers ($1.75m). 
The business did not start any new growth related 
capital investment projects during the year due to 
customers delaying investment decisions and PGL 
subsequently re-prioritising investment options. 

Management of safety compliance and creating 
a safety culture throughout the organisation and 
our suppliers, has been a key focus area for the 
business with good progress and achievements 
recorded. Management systems include active 
Board participation and a combination of external 
and internal audits with an aim of creating 
leading indicators and identifying opportunities for 
improvement.

Stuart Heal and Michael Barker at the opening of 
Barker Fruit Processors Energy Centre



PIONEER GENERATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014 | PG. 12

FINANCIAL 
EBITDAF for the year at $17.4m is up 28% from the 
previous year.

The total revenue for the year ($51.2m) is up by 
$22.8m or more than 80 %.

During the year The Central Lakes Trust (CLT) agreed 
to convert preference shares issued to them to 
ordinary shares, resulting in a stronger balance 
sheet for the company.

The company continued its policy of hedging 
a portion of its generation. The hedge policy is 
reviewed annually and the hedge cover from the 
2012/13 year has remained for the hydro generation 
output. The total output for the new Mt Stuart Wind 
Farm remains hedged for a further 3 years.

Dividends to the total value of $5.7m, up 24% from 
the previous year, were paid to The Central Lakes 
Trust. The total dividend paid to the CLT over the 
past 10 years now exceeds $39m.  The graph below 
shows the dividends paid per annum by PGL since 
1999 (inception).

OUTLOOK
The business, supported by our shareholder, 
remains strongly focussed on growth. Maintaining a 
diversified revenue and investment portfolio remain 
critical to ensure a sustainable growth path for the 
business in the short and medium term. 

Combining the EFI and PGL businesses created a 
unique position of scale and expertise to deliver 
on the energy challenges for our customers, 
proven by securing the development position for 
the Christchurch District Energy Scheme (DES). 
The Christchurch DES will be the key new business 
development focus area to not only secure 
the development option, but also to secure an 
investment position in the proposed Public Private 
Partnership.  Strategically we continue to see our 
business developing around long term sustainable 
partnerships with our customers, focussed on total 
on-site energy optimisation and management. 

We remain confident that small scale cost effective 
renewable generation developments have a strong 
niche position and even in the current environment 
could compete very well with existing production 
setting the market position.  During the year, we 
managed to secure two consented development 
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options that fit this category, with the Flat Hill Wind 
Farm, the first of these, to commence construction 
during the next financial year. Both these projects 
have exceptional earning potential in the current 
and forecasted market environment.

At an operational level, we will continue to focus 
on efficiency and operational competitiveness 
adding value to our existing asset investment and 
operations. 

The electricity sector has been a tough one for 
the past year and results such as this are not 
achieved without a strong team. In recognising 
those contributing to our team we wish to thank our 
customers who have supported our initiatives and 
the change of ownership of EFI. 

We also make a special thanks to our shareholder 
as they have supported our initiatives. PGL Directors 
remain aware of The Central Lakes Trust’s revenue 
requirements and the importance of the PGL 
dividend enabling the Trust to support charitable 
initiatives in our local communities.

The growth targets set for the next 10 years will 
continue to focus on diversification of our business 
income streams, business footprint and asset 
investment types. 

We will target our continuous improvement drive 
towards aligning and developing business process 
and systems across all business units. Synergies 
between the EFI and PGL business will be developed 
and applied to support the growth requirements. 

At an operational level, we will continue to 
develop our value added energy service offerings 
and customer management systems to ensure 
continued focus on customer needs and building 
our business around those needs. 

We look forward to our future in the energy sector. 
Working with our business partners, understanding 
their business needs and helping them being 
competitive in an ever changing environment 
is exciting and very rewarding. It will continue to 
challenge and develop our staff enabling us to 
share more knowledge with our customers.

THANK YOU
The past 12 months has been a challenging and 
exciting time for all our employees as amalgamation 
of our newly acquired business took place. People 
within our new larger company, from Auckland 
to Invercargill have rallied to bring us together as 
one, in some cases making changes to their usual 
routines.

I would like to acknowledge and thank our staff 
for their outstanding contribution, dedication and 
commitment in making 2013/2014 such a successful 
year. Tribute must also be paid to their families as 
they allow our staff to work long hours from time to 
time as required. Our sincere thanks is extended 
to everyone of our employees for their input, 
contribution and support during this financial year.

Finally we wish to recognise our Board for their 
continued support and commitment to our business 
enabling us to grow our investment back into the 
community.

Stuart Heal  Fraser Jonker
Chairman  Chief Executive Officer
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Pioneer Generation Directors
Attendance at 

meetings
Allan Kane - Chairman until July 2013 4/4

Stuart Heal - Chairman from July 2013 9/9

Steve Sanderson 9/9

Alison Gerry 8/9

Don Stock 8/9

Warren McNabb - Director since July 2013 5/7
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Stuart Heal was CEO of CRT for 20 years until he 
and his wife chose to move to Central Otago 
in 2004. Since then he has been involved in a 
number of consultancy and governance roles. 
He currently chairs the Southern PHO, covering 
all of Otago and Southland, chairs the University 
Bookshop (Otago) Ltd, chairs NZ Cricket and is a 
Director of the Southern Rural Fire Authority. He 
was a Director of the publicly listed Mercer Group 

Ltd from 2004 to 2012. In a voluntary capacity he 
is a trustee of Hospice Otago and has recently 
completed a two year term as a Director of 
Rotary International. He shares ownership, with his 
son and others, of two local companies Infinite 
Energy NZ Ltd, a solar distribution company, and 
Triple Seven Distribution Ltd, a trading company. 
Current consulting clients include Upper Clutha 
Transport Ltd and IFS Growth Ltd.

Steve has predominately a career background 
in infrastructure businesses which include past 
positions: Chief Executive of Queenstown Airport, 
General Manager NZ/Australia at Powerco 

Limited, and General Manager at Lyttelton Port 
Company. Steve is currently the Chief Executive 
for Wellington International Airport. Steve is a 
graduate of Monash University, Melbourne.

Alison Gerry has over 20 years’ experience working 
in finance and treasury for both corporates and 
for financial institutions in Sydney, Hong Kong, 
Tokyo & London in trading, finance and risk roles. 
Alison has also been a visiting fellow at Macquarie 

University for 12 years until 2012. Alison is currently 
Deputy Chair of Kiwibank, and a Director of TVNZ, 
NZX Limited and Queenstown Airport. Alison has 
a Masters of Applied Finance from Macquarie 
University.

Don Stock is a professional director with extensive 
experience in the electrical, construction and 
telecommunications industries. He is currently 
a director of New Zealand’s new health and 
safety regulator WorkSafe NZ, a director of Wells 
Group, and on the steering committee of the 
Business Leaders’ Health and Safety Forum. 
Over the past 15 years he has held a number 
of senior executive and governance roles in the 

United States, Asia and New Zealand including: 
Chairman and Managing Director of Naylor 
Love Construction, one of New Zealand’s largest 
construction companies; CEO Kordia Solutions, a 
telecommunications and broadcasting business 
covering Australia and NZ; GM Contracting for 
Northpower; CEO of United Gooder; and Vice 
President of Oxbow Power, USA and Philippines. 

WARREN MCNABB
Appointed a Director of Pioneer Generation Ltd in July 2013.

STUART HEAL - CHAIRMAN
Appointed a Director of Pioneer Generation Ltd in July 2007 and appointed Chair July 2013.

STEVE SANDERSON
Appointed a Director of Pioneer Generation Ltd in July 2008. 

ALISON GERRY
Appointed a Director of Pioneer Generation Ltd in July 2010. 

DON STOCK
Appointed a Director of Pioneer Generation Ltd in July 2011. 

Warren McNabb has 20 years’ experience 
in advising and investing in infrastructure 
assets, principally in electricity generation and 
distribution. He has worked as a commercial 
lawyer in New Zealand and an investment banker 
for Macquarie Bank in New Zealand and Canada. 
Over the last 10 years, Warren has worked as 
a financial consultant on renewable energy 
projects and investment fund establishment, as 

well as establishing Energy3 Limited (a renewable 
energy development company). He is currently 
deputy chair of Buller Electricity Limited and was 
previously a director of Energy for Industry Limited 
when it was owned by Meridian Energy. Warren 
has Bachelors of Commerce and Law from the 
University of Canterbury and a Master of Business 
Administration from the University of Hawaii.
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The company had its first full year of the combined 
Pioneer Generation Limited (PGL) and Energy For 
Industry Limited (EFI) operations which saw Total 
Revenue increase from $28.4m FY13 to $51.2m 
FY14, an increase of 80% year on year.  The results 
highlight the diversification in revenue streams the 
company now has after the acquisition of the EFI 
business together with the strong growth in Retailing 
Electricity. 

EBITDAF increased from $13.6m FY13 to $17.4m FY14, 
an increase of 28% year on year.  

The principal factor influencing year on year 
performance was due to 3 months of EFI operations 
in FY13 (post the EFI acquisition on 20 Dec 2012) 
against a full year of EFI operations in FY14.  

Pioneer declared a final dividend of $5.7m up from 
$4.6m in FY13.

FY14 RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS - OPERATIONAL
FY14 Actual FY13 Actual % Change

Generation Volume Sold MWh’s 229,142 219,805 1.9%

Retail Volume sold MWh’s 58,647 15,132 287.6%

Industrial Energy Heat Customers / Sites 16 13 23%

SNAPSHOT

“... final dividend of 
$5.7m up from $4.6m 
in FY13.”
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EBITDAF – EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAX, DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

NZ000s FY14 Actual FY13 Actual % Change

Reported Net Surplus after tax* $4,402 $10,475 (58.0%)

Income Tax benefit from EFI purchase* - ($1,532) n/a

Fair value movement on derivatives* $899 ($2,994) (130.0%)

Depreciation and Amortisation* $7,698 $4,272 62.9%

Interest/Finance Costs* $4,421 $3,400 30.0%

EBITDAF $17,420 $13,621 27.9%

* Figure has been extracted from audited financial statements

• The net change in fair value of derivatives reflects movements in forward price curves.  The change was primarily driven by the 

strengthening in the short-term forward electricity price.

FY14 RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS - FINANCIAL
NZ000s FY14 Actual FY13 Actual % Change

Net operating cash flow $12,381 $11,013 12.4%

Net investing cash flow* ($4,681) ($58,905) (92.1%)

Net Surplus after tax $4,402 $10,475 (57.9%)

EBITDAF $17,420 $13,621 27.9%

Total Assets $134,009 $135,167 (0.9%)

Total Equity** $69,862 $33,260 110.0%

* The significant investing activity in FY13 was the acquisition of the EFI Business.

** The increase in equity was principally due to the conversion of preference and redeemable preference shares to equity during 

the year.
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CORPORATE COMPLIANCE“Every care is taken 
to comply with 
the many legal, 
regulatory and 
electrical industry 
compliance issues 
faced by the 
company.”

CORPORATE
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GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
Pioneer Generation has a Governance Framework 
which assists to effectively and efficiently manage 
our company obligations and commitments. 

The Board is accountable for changes and updates 
to the governance framework and thereby ensures 
that Pioneer Generation operates with the most 
appropriate governance standards in place.

The Chief Executive is responsible for the daily 
management of Pioneer Generation. The Board 
approves the levels of delegated authority for all 
employees of the company.

Board Nominations

The Board members are appointed by The Central 
Lakes Trust. Mr Warren McNabb was appointed 
in July 2013, replacing retiring board member, Mr 
Allan Kane.

Board Committees

There have been a number of committees 
established within the Board to assist it to govern in 
specific areas.  

• The Audit Committee is charged with the 
oversight of financial reporting and disclosure.  
The committee members are:  Steve 
Sanderson (Chairman) and Alison Gerry.

• The Health & Safety Committee representative 
for the Board is Don Stock. The representative’s 
role is to liaise with the CEO on the Board’s 
behalf to ensure that the Health & Safety 
systems are fit for purpose and to a standard 
that the board requires.

• The Finance Committee Representative 
for the Board is Alison Gerry. The Finance 
representative’s role is to support management 
and advise the Board on the company’s 
financial management, including ensuring 
that all financial reporting requirements are 
being met.

Board Performance Review

The Board undergoes an annual  self-evaluation 
mediated by the Chief Executive. The purpose 
of the self-evaluation is to gather feedback on 
matters relating to board performance, The Board’s 
role, procedures, practices and administration. 
The findings from this evaluation are summarised 
and reported back to the Board.  The Chairman’s 
performance is also evaluated by the other Directors 
annually.

Statement of Corporate Intent (SCI)

Pioneer Generation presents a Statement of 
Corporate Intent (SCI) to its shareholder annually. 
This year the SCI sets out the overall goals, objectives 
and targets for the Company to 31st March 2015 
and the two succeeding financial years.  The two 
succeeding years are included to indicate intended 
direction and are likely to be subject to change as 
forward plans are reviewed.

The Central Lakes Trust review and agree the SCI 
with the Board before the final SCI is delivered to 
the Trust.

Finance 

Throughout the year the company have complied 
with financial covenants.  The suite of internal 

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE
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policies, including the Treasury Policy, delegated 
authorities and various procedures have provided 
guidance for compliance.  A rigorous financial 
audit has also been undertaken and the company 
was found to be in compliance with relevant 
accounting practice and standards.

Risk Management and Compliance 

Every care is taken to comply with the many legal, 
regulatory and electrical industry compliance issues 
faced by the company. 

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring 
management policies, procedures and risk 
management processes are appropriate.  
Assurance is gained with the regular provision of 
reports to the Board by management and via Board 
member committee representatives.

Risk Management is an integral part of annual 
business and strategic planning, including financial 
arrangements, project management, appropriate 
health and safety procedures, and has become 
ingrained in operational activities.

Insurance and Indemnities

The Board has resolved to authorise the company to 
effect insurance for its Directors and employees and 
agreed that the cost of effecting such insurance is 
fair to the company.

As from 1 April 2014, Pioneers Directors’ and Officers’ 
liability insurance was renewed to cover normal risks 
provided by such policies. Dishonest, fraudulent, 
malicious, wilful acts or omissions are not covered 
by this policy.

“We are proud 
to be associated 
with the CEMARS® 
Carbon Reduction 
Programme.” 

CORPORATE
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Use of Company Information

Pioneer Generation received no requests from the 
Board to use company information relayed to them 
in their roles as Directors that would otherwise not 
have been accessible to them.

Statutory Information

Statutory information is available in the financial 
statements.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT
Public Safety Management System

There were no incidents involving members of the 
public this year. This year the company underwent 
an interim audit by TELARC (an independent 
external auditor that specialise in Public Safety 
Management)  and retained our certification for 
Public Safety Management System. A full audit of 
the Public Safety Management System is scheduled 
for early next year.

Lost time Injuries

For the year ending March 31st 2014 there were 
zero lost time injuries.

ACC

In April 2014, the company achieved Secondary 
Status under the ACC Workplace Safety 
Management Practice programme.  This is a great 
achievement as it was Pioneer Generation Limited’s 
initial audit for this programme.  We aim to achieve 
Tertiary Status by 2016.

Internal Audit

Pioneer Generation has initiated an internal Health 
and Safety audit process, assessing policies and 
procedures to ensure they are fit for purpose.

Health & Safety Committee

Pioneer Generation Limited’s Health and Safety 
Committee meets monthly.  Its members consist of a 
broad range of employees ranging from CEO, GM’s 
to operational staff. The purpose of these meetings 
are to facilitate co-operation between all levels 
of staff to assist in developing standards, rules and 
procedures relative to Health and Safety.

Training Competencies

Pioneer Generation continually requires its 
employees to undergo training to ensure that their 
knowledge is refreshed and kept up-to-date with 
any legislative changes. Providing training to our 
employees is important to Pioneer  as it ensures staff 
have the correct knowledge to do their job safely. 
All staff are trained in First Aid and Fire Extinction and 
are also trained in a variety of other areas specific 
to their role.

CEMARS® 

We are proud to be associated with the CEMARS® 

Carbon Reduction Programme. We have achieved  
Cemars® accreditation with the Energy For Industry 
brand and we continued to strive for compliance, 
and continually reducing our carbon emissions.

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE CONT.
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The EFI business completed its fifth year in the 
CEMARS® accreditation scheme from 1st July 2012- 
30th June 2013 and which in the coming year will 
include the Pioneer Generation Limited business 
as a whole. As a user of fossil fuels we recoginse 
the need to balance economic realities with the 
transition to a lower carbon economy, with our 
CEMARS® programme aimed at targeting carbon 
reduction opportunities across our portfolio.

As shown in the inventory summary, total operational 
GHG emissions for EFI were 73,197 tonnes of CO2e 
for the 12 month period 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013, 
with an additional 357 tonnes of CO2e from one-
time emissions (construction of new plant) taking 
total emissions to 73,554 tonnes of CO2e.

The majority of emissions for the EFI facility are Scope 
1 from stationary combustion in plants operated by 
EFI (88%). The EFI business model is to provide on-
site energy solutions for our customers, so stationary 
combustion will always make up a large proportion 
of our emissions profile. The next largest emission 
source is from electricity purchased and resold 
within Scope 3 (8%).

ISO 14064-1:2006

“... our CEMARS® 
programme 
aimed at targeting 
carbon reduction 
opportunities across 
our portfolio.”

CORPORATE
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Operational emissions are classed as those that do 
not relate to one-time emissions sources, with total 
operational GHG emissions for EFI of 73,233 tonnes 
of CO2e for the 12 month period 1 July 2012 to 30 
June 2013

CEMARS® CERTIFICATION
(1st July 2012 - 30th June 2013)

The Dunedin Energy Centre makes up 53% of the 
operational emissions of EFI. This is due to the size of 
the operation and the fuel used being mostly coal.  
Washdyke Energy Centre made up 14%, again 
due to the primary fuel used being coal.  Auckland 
District Health Board (ADHB) Cogeneration Plant 
being predominately natural gas fired, made up 
a further 10% of the operational emissions. This was 
due to the fuel used (gas) and the retail electricity 
on-sold to the customer.  Emissions from corporate 
operations account for only 0.1% of the operational 
emissions. 

Highlights of the CEMARS® carbon reduction 
programme for the year ahead include high plant 
availability, the continued use of 50,000 GJ of wood 
chip at the Dunedin Energy Centre and displacing 
further coal use by maximising the use of landfill gas 
at our Nelson Hospital operation. 

The intentions are that the total Pioneer Generation 
business emissions will be included in our annual 
2014-15  CEMARS® reporting incorporating the use 
of Enviro-Mark’s Solutions Limited new emissions 
database and reporting tool (SOFI). 

Scope 1,
62,678, 
88%

Scope 2,
1,356 
1%

Scope 3, 
9,520, 
10%

Total GHG emissions (tonnes CO2e) by Scope for 2012/13
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Generation had a successful year with good 
results being achieved in all areas. 

The Mt Stuart Wind Farm ran very well during the 
year, achieving an availability of 99.3%. This can 
be credited to the dedicated and capable group 
of wind technicians carrying out high quality 
maintenance and attending promptly to any 
areas requiring attention. A two-year warranty 
period expired at the end of January this year and 
it is most pleasing to report there were no issues of 
significance throughout the year. Wind volumes 
were down with resulting production being 5.7% 
below budget, however revenue was down only 
3.8%.

The weather throughout the year provided its usual 
challenges for hydro generation assets with snow 
storms, near drought conditions and torrential rain. 
As a result, prudent water management was vital to 
ensure revenue was maximised amid volatile prices 
on the spot market whilst meeting forward power 
contracts. A severe snow storm mid-June prevented 
access to some of the Central Otago generation 
schemes for almost a week, while near drought 

• MT STUART ACHEIVED 99.3% 
AVAILABILITY

• GENERATOR AVAILABILITY WAS 
99.12%

• TOTAL GENERATION: 236,000 
MWH

GENERATION

conditions required some storage reservoirs to be 
drawn down to low levels. Despite the challenges, 
generator availability for the year was 99.12%.

“Staff involved in 
contracting proved 
they are competitive 
in the generation 
sector and secured 
some good high-tech 
projects.” 

The acquisition of Energy For Industry (EFI) saw gas 
plant located at the Auckland Hospital, Grafton 
and plant located at the Silverstream Landfill, 
Upper Hutt, placed under the management of the 
Generation team. This introduced some diversity 
into the generation portfolio with one of the engines 
at the Auckland District Health Board (ADHB) site 
successfully refurbished and upgraded mid-year 
to improve capacity. Plant located on the ADHB 

MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW
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site is designed to provide standby generation 
supporting their emergency power system to the 
hospital. Quarterly tests are conducted to ensure 
the machines will automatically start during power 
outages and checks the reliability of emergency 
starts.

The Silverstream operation, which derives gas from 
the landfill site at Upper Hutt for generation, also 
provided a solid performance throughout the year 
off its three generators. The Upper Hutt City Council, 
owners of the landfill, recently opened up a new 
landfill area. This will allow the Pioneer Generation 
run gas field to expand and in turn provide future 
increased revenue.

Staff involved in contracting proved they are 
competitive in the generation sector securing some 
good high-tech projects.

Environmental compliance is extremely important 
to Pioneer – this being our license to operate. It is 
recognised as a privilege to be trusted to use our 
natural resources to provide energy and return profits 
from our activities back to the community. Every 
care is taken to ensure compliance is acheived via 
monitoring processes and staff vigilance.

Generation have a commitment and are 
committed to, keeping the general public safe in 
the vicinity of our operations. The Generation group 
was audited by TELARC and retained accreditation 
for their public safety management system. A high 
and visible focus is also placed on employee health 
and safety. Maintaining a safe environment for our 
staff and contractors is vital in our industry and it is 
pleasing to report no lost time injuries. All Generation 

staff and contractors returned unharmed to their 
families.

Competing in an industry where we are a very 
small player requires us to think smarter, be nimble, 
responsive and innovative. Over the next twelve 
month period the Generation team’s focus will be 
on:

• Maximising the value of our energy resources

• Implementing asset management systems that 
keep our assets available, reliable and ready to 
take advantage of any opportunity

• Ensuring our staff are equipped to effectively 
run our assets through training and personal 
development 

• Keeping the public safe and adequately alerted 
of any dangers around our assets

• Providing a safe and healthy work environment 
for our staff and contractors so they return 
unharmed to their families

• Working close with our other business units to 
provide competitive solutions for our customers 
and deliver good returns to our shareholders

Robert Miller 
GM Generation
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The Industrial Energy Solutions (IES) division 
had a varied performance amid some very 
challenging operational conditions. Highlights for 
the year included the successful completion and 
commissioning of a duel fuel capable energy plant 
for Barker Fruit Processors of Geraldine, the Dunstan 
and Invercargill Hospital energy plants and a 
significant lift in Wood Energy NZ (WENZ) woodchip 
sales. The results of a health and safety survey were 
another highlight with a generally positive response 
to the culture of health and safety across the IES 
team, supported by a year of no lost time injuries 
and all staff training up to date. 

The Winstone Pulp International Ltd partnership 
continues to grow through their commitment to a 
saw-dust drying project. This investment will ensure 
that existing heat plant can deliver full output 

INDUSTRIAL ENERGY SOLUTIONS

throughout the winter season while still disposing 
of all waste sludges. The dryer will also maximize 
the use of an abundant sawdust supply from the 
Karioi and Tangiwai sawmill sites. This project is now 
expected to be commissioned in October 2014.

The successful delivery of the new boilers to Dunstan 
and Invercargill Hospitals attracted positive 
feedback from the Southern District Health Board 
(SDHB) in respect of all three of the operational 
sites including Dunedin Hospital, where we have 
successfully partnered with them in the delivery 
a thermal energy supply over a number of years. 
We continue to grow this partnership and will see 
a further investment in the coming year in a small 
heat exchanger at the Dunedin Energy Centre 
to supply neighbouring commercial and storage 
warehousing.

The official opening of the heat plant at the Barker 
Fruit Processors boiler house in November was well 
attended by both Barkers and Pioneer Generation 
staff with Sue Suckling (Barker Fruit Processors, 
Chair) praising the efforts of the team in bringing 
the project together and the added benefits 
that Pioneer was bringing to a growing energy 

• AMALGAMATION BRINGS 
BROADENED RESOURCES AND SKILLS

• EXTENDED CUSTOMER CONTRACTS 
REVEAL POTENTIAL IN PACKAGE 
ENERGY

• SUCCESSFUL DELIVERY OF 
NEW BOILERS TO BARKER FRUIT 
PROCESSORS OF GERALDINE, 
DUNSTAN AND INVERCARGILL 
HOSPITALS

MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW
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partnership. The University of Otago in Dunedin 
and Juice Products Ltd in Washdyke extended our 
existing heat relationships to include electricity, 
emphasising the real opportunities that exist for 
ongoing energy package growth within the small 
to medium enterprise and institutional sectors. 

Due to the Pioneer Generation Limited (PGL) 
amalgamated company structure the IES team 
gained the benefit of an Alexandra based 
team member who has been broadening his 
understanding of the IES business in supporting the 
adoption of the asset management database 
system (MEX) and assisting with its application 
across the generation assets. 

The Washdyke Energy Centre continued to see 
growth from existing customers with several key 
customers raising their heat supply demand. New 
Zealand Light Leathers Ltd secured a major tannery 
contract and  increased their steam demand, with 
Juice Products NZ on track for another strong year of 
production. We continue to promote the facility to 
both existing industries as well as those considering 
locating to South Canterbury.

The coming year will see a continued focus on 
plant efficiency and health and safety. In particular, 
contractor and public safety management 
with an alignment to the ACC workplace safety 
management programme will be targeted, as we 
work towards tertiary level accreditation for the 
business by 2016.

Stephen Jones
GM Industrial Energy Solutions

Opening of Barker Fruit Processors Energy Centre
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“Significant lift in 
Wood Energy New 
Zealand woodchip 
sales.”

MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW

2010 / 11
15,512 GJ

2011 / 12
63,725 GJ

2012 / 13
85,979 GJ

2013 / 14
124,870 GJ

WENZ WOOD SALES
WENZ WOOD SALES
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The volume of available wood out of the Naseby 
Forest has been limited, resulting in challenges in 
securing enough volumes for seasoning logs for 
those customers requiring lower moisture content. 
These lower moisture levels cannot be guaranteed 
at Dunedin due to climatic conditions and as such 
an artificial drying option is being considered for 
the future, as well as lobbying Earnslaw Forests to 
increase the available timber from Naseby. 

Revenues of $1.6m and EBITDAF of $121k was ahead 
of budget reflecting increased volumes in the 
Otago region and the fixed fee/ low volume impact 
at the Christchurch Biosolids Energy Centre. Further 
opportunities for volume growth remain within our 
current customer base as well as Hillmorten and 
Burwood Hospitals in the year ahead.

Stephen Jones
GM Industrial Energy Solutions

WOOD ENERGY NEW ZEALAND

The WENZ operation had a strong year of growth 
on the back of 53,000 GJ of delivered wood chip 
into the Dunedin Energy Centre, new customers, 
including the Dunedin Polytechnic and the 
University of Otago’s new child care facility and  
the Dunstan Hospital. Health and safety practices 
continue to be a focus with regular safety meetings 
held for both staff and casual contractors and with 
no LTI’s occurring over the year. 

The high tonnage of wood chip to the Dunedin 
Energy Centre ensured that the stockpile at 
Three Mile Hill was able to be reduced prior to 
fuel deterioration and restocking has begun for 
next season. Christchurch Wood Hub carries 
approximately 3,000 tonnes of stock and this will 
be maintained pending a decision by Christchurch 
District Health Board on the supply of woodchip to 
Hillmorten Hospital. 

The Christchurch Biosolids Energy Centre has 
required lower volumes of wood chip owing to 
surplus gas and the reliable operation of its landfill 
gas plant at Burwood.
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The amalgamation of Pioneer Generation Limited 
(PGL) and Energy for Industry Limited (PGL) through 
2013 brought together a complimentary range 
of skills, experience and business depth to be a 
vertically integrated generator-retailer and the 
ability to participate fully in any area of the New 
Zealand energy market where highest value growth 
options can be achieved. The amalgamation 
was supported by a full ICT network and platform 
refresh that ensures all operating areas are inter-
connected and have access to the range of 
business knowledge available. 

Merging the two existing niche retail businesses, 
together with the acquisition of a specialist energy 
efficiency distribution capability has created a 
specialist solutions business unit that now supports 
both generation and heat business production. 
During the year, Pioneer added wholesale hedge 
trading capability and systems into the mix, ensuring 
that the company revenue risks and volatility are 
not over-exposed to changing industry and market 
conditions. 

• GROWTH IN SELECTED 
CUSTOMER SEGMENTS

• PIONEER ADDED WHOLESALE 
HEDGE TRADING CAPABILITY 
AND SYSTEMS INTO THE MIX

• CREATION OF SPECIALIST 
SOLUTIONS BUSINESS UNIT 

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT & STRATEGY

Pioneer’s goals of achieving further business and 
risk diversification through investment beyond the 
industry meter points are being achieved through 
customer and business partner relationships that 
build on the distributed generation and heat 
supply assets of the combined Pioneer-EFI business. 
New customer retail offers have been successful 
in maintaining a more diversified and dynamic 
hedging position as well as targeting potential 
future investment growth areas. 

Investment activity was modest over the year, 
following the significant EFI business acquisition 
late 2012, maintaining our business growth with 
four smaller customer and generation projects 
being committed. A number of new and larger 
investment project options have been secured in all 
areas of the business that position Pioneer well with 
attractive local wind, hydro, waste gas generation 
and customer solutions investments of more than 
$50m supporting the next few years growth phase.

MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW



PIONEER GENERATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014 | PG. 31

“New customer 
retail offers have 
been successful in 
maintaining a more 
diversified and 
dynamic hedging 
position as well as 
targeting potential 
future investment 
growth areas.” 

Business Development highlights for the year 
have been:

• Completion of the Barkers Energy Centre and 
building Omarunui Landfill Generation

• Consolidation of our retail business interests - 
supported by a new hedging business unit

• Solutions growth in our selected customer 
segments – bundled business growth

• Acquisition of attractive wind and hydro 
development sites

• Securing the preferred partner by tender for the 
Christchurch District Energy Scheme.

 

Grant Smith
GM Business Development and Strategy 
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to exacerbate market pricing risks and volatility in 
the areas of transmission cost allocation, treatment 
of HVDC fixed costs, avoided costs of transmission 
(ACOT) and compliance generally. Pioneer has 
responded to these proposals to ensure the views 
and concerns of smaller and embedded generator-
retailers are heard within industry and where 
possible will seek to avoid the business complexity 
introduced by both the Industry and the Electricity 
Authority.

In the face of increasing competition Pioneer has 
been successful in focussing on segmenting its 
generation and retail marketing efforts to align our 
products with markets where we can build customer 
relationships and build trust and loyalty through 
cost effective solutions. Consumers are becoming 
better enabled, through information access and 
knowledge sharing, to make more informed 
decisions when selecting their energy supplier and 
Pioneer is working hard to be a partner of choice in 
our preferred segments.

NEW ZEALAND ENERGY MARKET SUMMARY

The New Zealand electricity wholesale markets 
have experienced softer wholesale prices and 
tougher retail competition over the past year, 
likely due to a period of lower than average 
demand growth coupled with higher than average 
renewable generation, on the back of newly 
commissioned windfarms and geothermal base 
load capacity. 

Government’s market reforms of 2010 have 
contributed to increasing market competition as 
intended, with better wholesale market liquidity 
in the ASX Futures Exchange and more regional 
competition between the major gentailers. The 
public floats of SOE’s Mighty River Power, Meridian 
Energy and Genesis Energy have no doubt also 
contributed to changes in behaviour and greater 
competition to secure greater market share statistics 
over the short term. 

The Electricity Authority has introduced a number of 
regulatory change proposals this year that are likely 

MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW

“Overall our view of 
market and business 
growth opportunities 
in the sector remains 
optimistic.”
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The generation investment market outlook 
was spooked somewhat by making public the 
negotiations between Rio Tinto and Meridian 
Energy on the future contract pricing for the Tiwai 
Smelter. An interim contract solution was resolved 
until 2017, but the underlying concern remains that 
Rio Tinto exits its New Zealand smelting operations 
and puts significant downward pressure on spot 
prices due to an over-supply of hydro generation 
from Manapouri.

Whilst these risks and concerns are reasonably 
material and well founded, there are other 
mitigating measures that we believe are likely to 
reduce the materiality of this risk between now and 
2017, including;

• New Zealand has an aging thermal generation 
fleet that can be quickly mothballed or 
de-commissioned should over-supply of 
renewable energy occur.

• The gas Combined Cycle (CCGT) fleet is now 
more than 10 years old and facing costly 
major overhauls. With three of these units in 
this aging category, there is gas generation 
flexibility equal to the equivalent of the 
Manapouri power station output. 

• A number of lower cost open-cycle Gas 
generation plants have been installed to 
manage peak pricing risks and these facilities 
will also enable more flexible use of CCGT plant 
and more economic use of gas resources – at 
lower thermal generation hours run.

• Transpower’s recent significant investment 
in major grid  upgrade projects, including 
the new HVDC south-north link, means there 
is less constraint pricing risk for transport of 
electricity from south to north and by 2017, it 
is likely the other weakest links in the system 
will have been improved to enable potential 
shifts in supply-demand balances.

• The global economic downturn from 2008 
shows signs of recovery and could be 
expected by 2017 to have either normalised or 
perhaps cycled back to higher than average 
growth. New Zealand’s producer export 
markets, including Tiwai production could 
just as likely materially increase in demand 
as fall, so planning assumptions for long term 
renewable generation investments need to 
stay within a range of normalised forecasts.

• Climate change has also not gone away, only 
the carbon price has reduced to reflect the 
supply-demand impacts of global recession 
and other carbon mitigation programmes 
being actioned by law in other international 
jurisdictions. New Zealand will likely face 
new pressures to mitigate its emissions in the 
next round of treaty negotiations, given its 
poor showing against the prior agreed Kyoto 
reduction targets from 1990 levels. An increase 
in the average carbon price over the long 
term would go a long way to offsetting price 
pressures due to a short term supply-demand 
imbalance, so renewable generation remains 
the investment of choice for Pioneer.

The fundamentals for investing in new generation 
remain unchanged, access to the best and lowest 
cost resources together with a fit-for-purpose 
generation portfolio and Pioneer has secured 
sufficient future development options that satisfy 
these investment criteria. Overall our view of market 
and business growth opportunities in the sector 
remains optimistic.

Grant Smith
GM Business Development and Strategy
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With the amalgamation of Pioneer Generation 
and Energy for Industry through 2013 there was a 
need to integrate functions and roles to manage 
ongoing business and to meet the growth objectives 
and management requirements to effectively 
deliver a diverse range of ongoing and future 
projects. 

The Project Development and Delivery Business Unit 
provides technical support and asset management 
services to the existing electricity generation 
business along with investigation and development 
support to the hydro, wind and heat businesses. 
The Unit also provides the management role for the 
capital investment programme for the company. 

Several severe wet weather events during the 
year resulted in a number of the company’s 
hydro schemes civil structures suffering significant 
damage. Access was maintained under trying 
conditions and repair work was also required on a 
number of access roads over the summer months.

Investigation work continued into a number of 

• PROVIDES MANAGEMENT 
FOR THE CAPITAL INVESTMENT 
PROGRAMMES

• SUCCESSFUL DELIVERY OF THE 
OMARUNUI LANDFILL ELECTRICITY 
GENERATION AND FLAT HILL 
WINDFARM PROJECTS 

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT & DELIVERY

potential hydro and wind opportunities with the 
rights to develop the consented Flat Hill Wind Farm 
being purchased in the later part of the year.

After a 12 year process, sign off on the final tenure 
review for the Ben Nevis and Craigroy Stations was 
completed.

Asset improvement works completed during the 
year included the refurbishment of the Monowai 
Dam originally built in 1924 and replacement of the 
remaining sections of the pipeline feeding the Fraser 
Hydroelectric Scheme. This pipeline replacement 
marked the completion of a 10 year programme.

Other projects completed include an upgrade of 
the electrical system associated with electricity 
generation at Auckland Hospital and boiler renewal 
at both Dunstan and Invercargill Hospitals.

The Omarunui Landfill Electricity Generation Project 
in Hastings has progressed to the construction phase 
with expected completion in the 2014 calendar 
year.

MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW



PIONEER GENERATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014 | PG. 35

Following a long and protracted hearing process, 
the Minister for the Environment decided to support 
the majority decision of the Environment Court 
regarding the proposed amendment to the Water 
Conservation Order Kawarau 1997, to amend the 
order and prevent damming of the river in order 
to protect its outstanding natural features. This was 
a disappointment for the business given the lost 
opportunity for growth, jobs and renewable energy 
development. Despite this and due to the hard work 
of the many environmental experts we brought on 
board, we are satisfied that the evidence provided 
addressed the substantive concerns raised in the 
original application and during the Environment 
Court process. Our experience is that Water 
Conservation Order processes are a minefield 
for any business involved in them. The litigation 
costs are huge and the ground rules appear to 
keep changing throughout the process. Arguing 
the boundaries of things such as outstanding 
landscapes and concepts such as “wild” is very 
subjective.

The Development and Delivery team will continue 
its valuable contribution to business activities and 
focus in the areas of:

• Bedding in of effective project management 
and delivery systems

• Where feasible, advancing development 
possibilities through acquisition

• Investigating and progressing economically 
feasible asset improvement projects

• Progressing hydro and wind opportunities to 
consenting stage

• Successful delivery of the Omarunui Landfill 
Electricity Generation and Flat Hill Windfarm 
Projects

• Support to other sections of the business to 
progress development, asset management, 
technical support and maintaining regulatory 
compliance.

Peter Mulvihill
GM Project Development & Delivery
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DIRECTORY

Nature of Business:

The Company’s business is primarily the generation of 
electricity, owning, operating and developing small 
hydro power stations, wind generation and landfill gas 
sites and offering energy solutions for industrial clients 
at a range of sites throughout New Zealand.  The 
principal objective of the Company is to operate as 
a successful business as defined in section 36 of the 
Energy Companies Act 1992.

Board of Directors:
A Kane (resigned 22 July, 2013)
S Heal (Chairman)
S Sanderson
A Gerry 
D Stock 
W McNabb (appointed 22 July, 2013)

Auditors:
Deloitte
Solicitor:
Buddle Findlay
Registration No.:
DN/613390
Registered Office:
Ellis Street
PO Box 275
Alexandra
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT

Surplus after Tax:

The Company surplus after taxation for the year was: $3.479 million (2013: 
$10.069 million). The Group surplus after taxation for the year was $4.402 
million (2013: $10.475 million).

Directors’ Fees 

Directors’ fees in respect of the year ended 31 March, 2014 were as follows:

Group Parent

A Kane (resigned 22 July, 2013) $18,250 $18,250

S Heal $43,312 $43,312

S Sanderson $35,979 $29,979

A Gerry $29,979 $29,979

D Stock $35,979 $29,979

W McNabb (appointed 22 July, 2013) $26,650 $21,500

There were no requests from directors to use Company information 
received in their capacity as Directors, which could not otherwise have 
been made available to them.  The Company has arranged Directors’ 
and Officers’ liability insurance.

For and on behalf of the Directors

S Heal      S Sanderson
Chairman     Director

Date: 26 May 2014    Date: 26 May 2014
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors of Pioneer Generation Limited are pleased to present to 
shareholders and other interested parties the financial statements for the 
year 31 March, 2014.

No disclosure has been made in respect of section 211(1)(g) of the 
Companies Act 1993 following a unanimous decision by the shareholders 
in accordance with section 211(3) of the Act.

The Financial Statements are signed on behalf of the Board by:

S Heal     S Sanderson
Chairman    Director

Date: 26 May 2014   Date: 26 May 2014
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INCOME STATEMENT
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March, 2014

Group Parent

Notes 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue 2a 51,229 28,369 44,237 22,548

Other Income 2b 638 211 464 134

Cost of Sales (20,019) (5,592) (16,609) (2,284)

Employee remuneration 2c (4,575) (3,353)) (3,784) (2,389)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 2d (7,698) (4,272) (6,825) (3,224)

Finance costs (4,421) (3,400) (4,421) (3,395)

Reduction in goodwill due to change in tax status 12 - (1,362) - -

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (8) (6) (8) (6)

Other expenses 2e (9,845) (4,646) (8,760) (4,236)

Net surplus Before Taxation and Gains/(Losses) on derivatives 5,301 5,949 4,294 7,148

Gains/ (losses) on derivatives 2f (899) 2,994 (815) 2,921

Net Surplus Before Taxation 4,402 8,943 3,479 10,069

Income tax benefit 3 - 1,532 - -

Net Surplus After Taxation $4,402 $10,475 $3,479 $10,069

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March, 2014

Group Parent

Notes 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000

Net Surplus after Taxation 4,402 10,475 3,479 10,069

Items reclassified to Income Statement

Other comprehensive income – movement in hedge reserve 1,888 (645) 1,888 (645)

Total Comprehensive Income After Taxation $6,290 $9,830 $5,367 $9,424

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March, 2014

Group Notes Ordinary 
Shares

Hedging 
Reserves

Retained 
Earnings Total

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 April, 2012 35,000 (11) (6,972) 28,017

Total Comprehensive Income for the year - (645) 10,475 9,830

Payment of Dividends - - (4,587) (4,587)

Balance at 31 March 2013 35,000 (656) (1,084) 33,260

Total Comprehensive Income for the year - 1,888 4,402 6,290

Payment of Dividends - - (5,688) (5,688)

Share capitalisation 17,18 36,000 - - 36,000

Balance at 31 March 2014 $71,000 $1,232 ($2,370) $69,862

Parent Notes Ordinary 
Shares

Hedging 
Reserves

Retained 
Earnings Total

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 April, 2012 35,000 (11) (6,972) 28,017

Total Comprehensive Income for the year - (645) 10,069 9,424

Payment of Dividends - - (4,587) (4,587)

Balance at 31 March 2013 35,000 (656) (1,490) 32,854

Total Comprehensive Income for the year - 1,888 3,479 5,367

Payment of Dividends - - (5,688) (5,688)

Share capitalisation 17,18 36,000 - - 36,000

Effect of Amalgamation on EFI 10 - - 1,329 1,329

Balance at 31 March 2014 $71,000 $1,232 ($2,370) $69,862

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 March, 2014

Group Parent
Notes 2014

$000
2013
$000

2014
$000

2013 
$000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 20(a) 2,195 1,583 2,195 421

Trade and other receivables 5 8,419 7,709 8,419 4,299

Work in progress - 75 - 75

Inventories 6 1,190 790 1,190 -

Taxation Receivable 3 122 - 122 -

Other financial assets 7 1,515 758 1,515 759

13,441 10,915 13,441 5,554

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries 9 - - 650 56,297

Property, plant and equipment 11 113,658 116,934 113,658 70,363

Goodwill 12 - - - -

Other intangible assets 13 6,162 6,248 5,512 152

Other financial assets 7 748 1,070 748 1,070

120,568 124,252 120,568 127,882

TOTAL ASSETS $134,009 $135,167 $134,009 $133,436

Current liabilities
Trade payables 14 1,479 1,235 1,479 537

Accruals 15 3,903 3,953 3,903 1,036

Other financial liabilities 7 165 719 165 666

Intercompany payable - - - 2,343

5,547 5,854 5,547 4,582

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings 16 58,600 60,000 58,600 60,000

Redeemable preference shares 17 - 8,500 - 8,500

Preference shares 18 - 27,500 - 27,500

58,600 96,000 58,600 96,000

Total liabilities 64,147 101,907 64,147 100,582

Equity

Share capital 19 71,000 35,000 71,000 35,000

Retained earnings 19 (2,370) (1,084) (2,370) (1,490)

Hedge reserve 19 1,232 (656) 1,232 (656)

69,862 33,260 69,862 32,854

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $134,009 $135,167 $134,009 $133,436

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March, 2014

Group Parent

Notes 2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 51,570 24,288 46,721 21,727

GST received/(paid) (net) (156) 306 (26) 176

Payments to suppliers and employees (34,705) (10,181) (30,575) (6,563)

Interest paid (4,328) (3,400) (4,328) (3,395)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 20b 12,381 11,013 11,792 11,945

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for property, plant and equipment (3,502) (6,177) (2,534) (3,697)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 29 143 29 143

Payment for other intangible assets (195) (313) (195) (36)

Payment for Prudential Security Bond (363) (1,112) (363) (1,112)

Acquisition of subsidiaries 9 (650) (51,446) (650) (56,297)

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (4,681) (58,905) (3,713) (60,999)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividend paid (5,688) (4,587) (5,688) (4,587)

Proceeds from borrowings 12,000 50,000 12,000 50,000

Repayment of borrowings (13,400) (23,800) (13,400) (23,800)

Issue of preference shares - 27,500 - 27,500

Net cash used in financing activities (7,088) 49,113 (7,088) 49,113

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 612 1,221 991 59

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 1,583 362 421 362

Cash and cash equivalents introduced on amalgamation - - 783 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year $2,195 $1,583 $2,195 $421

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March, 2014

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity

Pioneer Generation Limited (the Company or Parent) 
is incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand.  
Its principle activities relate to the generation of 
electricity, owning, operating and developing small 
hydro power stations, wind generation and landfill gas 
sites and offering energy solutions for industrial clients 
at a range of sites throughout New Zealand.  The 
principal objective of the Company is to operate as 
a successful business as defined in section 36 of the 
Energy Companies Act 1992. 

Pioneer Generation Limited is a reporting entity for 
the purposes of the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and 
its financial statements comply with that Act, the 
Companies Act 1993 and the Energy Companies Act 
1992.

Pioneer Generation Limited is 100% owned by the 
Central Lakes Trust. Accordingly, the Central Lakes 
Trust is the ultimate parent of the Company. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by 
the directors on the 26th of May, 2014.

Statement of Compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice in New Zealand (“NZ GAAP”).  They comply with 
the New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“NZ IFRS”) and other applicable 
financial reporting standards as appropriate for profit-
orientated entities.

Compliance with NZ IFRS ensures that the financial 
statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the 
basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of 
certain assets and liabilities as identified in the following 
accounting policies.  Cost is based on the fair values of 
the consideration given in exchange for assets.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a 
manner which ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and 
reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the 
underlying transactions or other events is reported.

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars, rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000).  

The accounting policies set out below have been 
applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements.

Critical Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, 
the directors are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources.  The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the 
basis of making the judgements.  Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an on-going basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

The significant judgements, estimates and assumptions 
made in the preparation of these financial statements 
are outlined below:

• Assessment and allocation of fair value of assets 
and liabilities in a business combination

The determination of fair values for assets and 
liabilities at acquisition was based on an independent 
valuation of the Energy for Industry Limited business in 
combination with the management’s estimates of the 
discounted future cash flows on customer contracts 
held by Energy for Industry Limited. 

In determining the appropriate allocation of fair 
values in the acquisition of Energy for Industry Limited, 
judgement has been applied in assessing that for 
the majority of customer contracts it is not possible 
to separate the customer contracts from the related 
property, plant and equipment utilised to fulfil the 
contracts. Accordingly the Group has recognised 
these contracts together with those items of property, 
plant and equipment rather than separate intangible 
assets at acquisition. 

•  Depreciation
In determining the appropriate depreciation rate 
to apply against property, plant and equipment 
management are required to make estimates 
regarding the useful lives and residual values of 
property, plant and equipment.
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1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT).
The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, 
plant and equipment at the end of each annual 
reporting period. The estimates used by management 
in determining the depreciation rate may ultimately 
be different to the actual pattern of use.  In the event 
these estimates differ to the actual pattern of use the 
depreciation charge recognised may be more or 
less than what would have been charged had this 
information been available at the time of determining 
the estimate. 

• Intangible Assets
In determining the appropriate amortisation rate to 
apply against intangible assets management are 
required to make estimates regarding the estimated 
remaining useful lives and residual values of intangible 
assets.

The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of 
intangible assets at the end of each annual reporting 
period. The estimates used by management in 
determining the amortisation rate may ultimately be 
different to the actual pattern of use.  In the event 
these estimates differ to the actual pattern of use 
the amortisation charge recognised may be more or 
less than what would have been charged had this 
information been available at the time of determining 
the estimate.

• Valuation of derivative financial instruments
The valuation of electricity derivatives relies on an 
internally developed pricing methodology. The hedge 
price is compared against the publicly available 
forecasted spot price over the hedging period in order 
to determine a fair value of the derivatives. Assumptions 
that can have a significant impact on the fair value 
are the publicly available forecasted spot price at 
each grid exit point and the forecasted volume to 
be delivered, based on an independent assessment, 
where the hedges are variable volume instruments. 

• Valuation of foreign exchange contracts an 
interest rate swaps

The valuation of foreign exchange contracts and 
interest rate swaps relies on a mark to market pricing 
calculation carried out by the Bank of New Zealand. 
Other financial instruments are valued using a 
discounted cash flow analysis based on assumptions 
supported, where possible, by observable market 
prices or rates.

• Borrowing Costs
Judgement has been applied to calculate the 
proportion of borrowings related to qualifying assets 
and the capitalisation period. Judgement has also 
been exercised to determine that borrowing costs that 
have been expensed are not attributable to qualifying 

assets. 

Significant Accounting Policies

The following significant accounting policies have 
been adopted in the preparation and presentation of 
the financial statements:

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the financial statements of the Company and entities 
(including structured entities) controlled by the 
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved 
when the Company:

• Has power over the investee;

• Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee; and

• Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an 
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of 
control listed above.

Business Combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are 
accounted for using the purchase method. The 
cost of the business combination is measured as the 
aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) 
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and 
equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange 
for control of the acquiree. The acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet 
the conditions for recognition under NZ IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations are recognised at their fair values at 
the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or 
disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in 
accordance with NZ IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are 
recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell. 

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an 
asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of 
the cost of the business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after 
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value 
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
continge1nt liabilities exceeds the cost of the business 
combination, the excess is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. 
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1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT).

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable in relation to the 
sale of energy solutions and the supply of electricity to 
customers provided in the normal course of business, 
net of discounts and GST.

Revenue from rental income is recognised as it is 
earned on an accrual basis.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate 
basis using the effective interest method.

Other Gains and Losses

Net gains or losses on the sale of property plant and 
equipment are recognised when unconditional title 
has transferred and it is probable that the Group will 
receive the consideration due. 

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the 
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 
to the Income Statement on a basis representative of 
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased 
asset.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised 
at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to 
the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
each determined at the inception of the lease. The 
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 
Statement of Financial Position as a finance lease 
obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged 
directly against income, unless they are directly 
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are 
capitalised. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 
to income on a straight line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease.

Pioneer Generation Limited holds Crown Pastoral 
Leases with rights of renewal every 33 years in 
perpetuity.  The Crown Pastoral Leases have been 
classified as Property, Plant and Equipment in the 

Statement of Financial Position.

Finance Costs

Interest expense is accrued on a time basis using the 
effective interest method.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of 
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
added to the cost of those assets until such time as 
the assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale.  All other borrowing costs are recognised 
in the profit and loss in the period in which they are 
incurred.  The accounting policy for borrowing costs, 
NZ IAS 23, only applies to qualifying assets where the 
commencement date for capitalisation is on or after 
1 April, 2011. 

Taxation

As Pioneer Generation Limited’s sole shareholder is a 
charitable organisation the Company was granted 
exemption from Income Tax under Section CB 4(1)(e) 
of the Income Tax Act 1994 (replaced with Section CW 
42(1) of the Income Tax Act 2007).  Charitable status 
was effective from 23 October, 2002.

Accordingly income earned after 23 October, 2002 is 
exempt from taxation.

Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are 
recognised net of the amount of goods and services 
tax (GST), except for receivables and payables which 
are recognised inclusive of GST.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and cash held in banks.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the Group’s Statement of Financial Position when 
the Group becomes a party to contractual provisions 
of the instrument.
(i) Financial Assets

Financial Assets are classified into the following specified 
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, fair value through other comprehensive income 
and amortised cost. The classification depends on 
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.
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1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT).

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss where the financial asset:

• Has been acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the near future; or

• Is a part of an identified portfolio of financial 
instruments that the Company manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of 
short-term profit-taking; or

• Is a derivative that is not designated and 
effective as a hedging instrument.

The Group has various electricity price hedging 
agreements for the primary purpose of reducing its 
exposure to fluctuations in electricity spot market 
prices.  While these financial instruments are subject 
to risk that market rates may change subsequent to 
acquisition, such changes would generally be offset 
by opposite effects on the items being hedged.  
Amortised Cost

Trade and other receivables are classified as ‘amortised 
cost’.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less provision 
for impairment.   A provision for impairment is established 
when there is objective evidence that the Company 
will not be able to collect all amounts due according 
to the original terms of the receivables.  The amount 
of the provision is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest 
rate.  The amount of the provision is expensed in the 
Income Statement.
Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

The Company enters into interest rate swaps to hedge 
against fluctuations in floating interest rates on certain 
borrowings and foreign exchange forward contracts 
as a hedge against fluctuations in the cost of capital 
equipment due to exchange rate movements where 
these are seen as significant.
Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through 
profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment 
at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are 
impaired where there is objective evidence that as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the financial asset the estimated 
future cash flows of the investment have been 

impacted. For financial assets carried at amortised 
cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate.The carrying amount 
of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment 
loss directly for all financial assets with the exception 
of trade receivables where the carrying amount is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account.  
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against the allowance account. Changes 
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 
recognised in the Income Statement.
(ii) Financial Liabilities 
Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables and other accounts payable are 
recognised when the Company becomes obliged to 
make future payments resulting from the purchase of 
goods and services.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair 
value and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest method.
Borrowings

Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of 
transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are 
measured at amortised cost with any difference 
between the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption value being recognised in the Income 
Statement over the period of the borrowing using the 
effective interest method.
(iii) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group enters into certain derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposure to movements in 
the spot price for electricity.   The Group also enters 
into certain derivative financial instruments to manage 
its exposure to movements in the foreign exchange 
rate and interest rates.

The Group does not hold derivative financial instruments 
for speculative purposes.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the 
date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each 
balance date. 

The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit and loss 
immediately unless the derivative is designated and 
effective as a hedging instrument, in which event, the 
timing of the recognition in profit and loss depends on 
the nature of the hedge relationship.  
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1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT).

The Group designates electricity derivatives as fair 
value hedges and hedges of foreign currency forward 
contracts and interest rate swaps are accounted for 
as cash flow hedges.

Changes in the fair value of electricity derivatives that 
are designated as fair value hedges are recorded in 
profit and loss immediately, together with any changes 
in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable 
to the hedging risk. 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
foreign currency forward contracts  and interest rate 
swaps that are hedge accounted are designated 
as cash flow hedges and are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulate as a separate 
component of equity in the hedging reserve. The gain 
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.  Changes in the fair value 
of the foreign currency forward contracts that are not 
hedge accounted are recorded in the profit and loss. 

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.

Property, Plant & Equipment
Cost

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.  Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets and 
capitalised borrowing costs.  Where an asset is acquired 
for no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair 
value at the date of acquisition.
Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on  straight-line basis for 
the heat plant assets.  For all other assets, both the 
diminishing value and straight lint method have been 
adopted using the respective rates set out below.

Expenditure incurred to maintain these assets at 
full operating capability is charged to the Income 
Statement in the period incurred.

Any capital expenditure incurred subsequent to the 
commissioning of fixed assets is capitalised to the asset 
at the time it is incurred.

The cost of internally constructed assets comprises 
direct labour, materials, transport and overhead 
apportioned on the basis of labour and plant costs.

The estimated useful lives of the major asset classes 
have been estimated as follows:

Rate Method

Land Nil

Land Improvements 1.5 - 11.4% DV& SL

Buildings and Civil Assets 2 - 15% DV& SL

Computer Equipment 4 - 100% DV& SL

Furniture & Fittings 7.8 - 100% DV& SL

Generation Plant 1 - 80.4% DV& SL

Heat Plant 8 - 44% SL

Motor Vehicles 8 - 21.6% DV& SL

Office Equipment 7 - 48% DV& SL

Other Equipment & Tools 8 - 67% DV& SL

The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period.
Disposal

An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or recognised as impaired 
when no future economic benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the Income Statement in the period the 
asset is derecognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or 
a jointly controlled entity represents the excess of 
the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or jointly 
controlled entity recognised at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is 
subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.
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1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill 
has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, 
or more frequently when there is an indication that the 
unit may be impaired. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. 
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then 
to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of 
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit and 
loss and is not reversed in a subsequent period. 

On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, 
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible Assets
Intangible Assets Separately Acquired

Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and amortisation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

•  Computer software  up to 3 years
Intangible Asset Acquired in a Business Combination

Finite life intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination are identified and recognised separately 
from goodwill where they satisfy the definition of an 
intangible asset and their fair values can be measured 
reliably. The cost of such intangible assets is their fair 
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, 
on the same basis as intangible assets acquired 
separately.

• Customer contract (Heat 
Supply contract – Bromley, 
Christchurch) 

up to 13 years

• Rights to Silverstream LFG 
(Consent to extract gas) up to 25 years

• Customer Acquisition 
(Electricity supply contracts 
as purchased)

up to 8 years

• Computer software up to 3 years
• Flat Hill Consent up to 30 years

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets excluding 
Goodwill

At each balance date or when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the Group reviews 
the recoverability of the carrying amounts of its tangible 
and intangible assets to determine whether they have 
suffered an impairment loss.  The recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell, and 
value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows that are largely 
independent of the cash flows from other assets or 
group of assets (cash generating units).

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the 
Income Statement, unless the relevant asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment 
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at 
each reporting date.  A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in the Income Statement,  
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment 
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group  has a 
present obligation arising from past events, the future 
sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the 
amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at reporting date, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the 
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 
flows.
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When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from 
a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset 
if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.

Employee Benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees 
in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long 
service leave, and sick leave when it is probable that 
settlement will be required and the cost is capable of 
being measured reliably.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits 
expected to be settled within 12 months are measured 
at their nominal values using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits which 
are not expected to be settled within 12 months are 
measured as the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of 
services provided by employees up to reporting date.

Cash Flow Statement

Operating activities include cash received from all 
income sources of the Group and record the cash 
payments made for the supply of goods and services.

Investing activities are those activities relating to the 
acquisition and disposal of non-current assets.

Financing activities comprise the change in equity and 
debt structure of the Group.

Comparatives

When the presentation or classification of items is 
changed, comparative amounts are reclassified unless 
the reclassification is impracticable.  

New financial reporting standards effective in the 
reporting period

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with 
those of the previous financial year, except that the 
Company and Group have adopted the following 
new and amended New Zealand equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) 
from 1 April 2013.
New consolidation standards 

A package of three new standards was issued on 
consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and 

associated disclosures was released which became 
effective in the current year.

• NZ IFRS 10   Consolidated Financial Statements

• NZ IFRS 11   Joint Arrangements

• NZ IFRS 12   Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

The new standards provide a revised definition of 
control together with accompanying guidance to 
identify when a controlling interest in another entity 
exists. The new definition of control contains three key 
elements:

• power over an investee;

• exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee; and

• the ability to use power over the investee to 
affect the amount of the investor’s returns. 

However the new standards do not result in any 
change to the mechanics of consolidation and the 
accounting for any controlling interests and changes in 
control remains the same.The Directors have reviewed 
the composition of the Group and its relationship with 
other entities, in light of the revised definition of control 
and has not identified additional subsidiaries, joint 
ventures or associates which had not previously been 
recognised.
NZ IFRS 13

NZ IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement has been adopted 
during the period. The directors have disclosed all 
relevant input factors required under this standard in 
Note 21.

The Company and Group have adopted all other 
mandatory standards and interpretations. None of 
these standards and interpretations had a material 
impact on the financial statements.

Impact of accounting standards issued but not 
yet effective 

A number of new standards and interpretations have 
been issued but are not yet effective for the current 
year-end. The reported results and financial position 
of the Parent and Group is not expected to change 
on adoption of these pronouncements as they do 
not result in any changes to the Parent and Group’s 
existing accounting policies. Adoption will, however, 
result in changes to information currently disclosed in 
the financial statements. 

The Parent and Group do not intend to adopt any of 
the new pronouncements before their effective dates.    
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Group Parent

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

2. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

(a) Revenue

Generation of Electricity and Retail Sales 34,492 22,548 31,940 22,548

Energy sales 16,737 5,821 12,297 -

$51,229 $28,369 $44,237 $22,548

(b) Other Income

Rent 60 63 60 63

Other revenue 552 96 378 20

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 26 52 26 52

$638 $211 $464 $134

(c) Employee remuneration includes:

Contribution to Defined Contribution Plans 162 68 138 38

$162 $68 $138 $38

(d) Depreciation and Amortisation expense

Depreciation expense 6,768 4,023 5,894 3,199

Amortisation expense 930 249 931 25

$7,698 $4,272 $6,825 $3,224

(e)  Other Expenses includes:

Net surplus before tax has been arrived at after charging the following expenses:

Audit Fees:
Fees paid to parent auditor:

Statutory audit – Crowe Horwath (2013) 19 18 19 18

Statutory audit –Deloitte (2014) 34 - 34 -

Fees paid to other auditors of entities in the group:

Audit Fees paid to Deloitte as component auditor of subsidiary - 13 - -

Other Fees paid to Deloitte by group entities subject to audit (i) 75 123 75 128

128 154 128 18

Operating Lease payments 439 251 379 165

(i) Other Fees paid to Deloitte relate to the provision of financial advisory and tax services
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2. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS (CONT).
Group Parent

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

(f) Gains/(Losses) on Derivatives

Gains/(losses) on electricity hedge contracts (903) 3,011 (819) 2,937

Gains/(losses) on foreign currency forward contracts 4 (17) 4 (16)

($899) $2,994 ($815) $2,921

3. TAXATION
Pioneer Generation Limited was granted charitable tax status effective 23 October, 2002.  All income earned subsequent to 23 October, 
2002 is tax exempt. 

At balance date a taxation receivable amount of $122,000 was due to the company in relation to pre-acquisition profits for EFI.

4. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
The following remuneration (in total) was paid to executives, being the key management personnel:

Group Parent

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Wages and salaries and short term benefits 1,376 1,382 1,217 819

Post-employment benefits 47 41 42 26

Termination benefits - - - -

Other long term benefits - - - -

$1,423 $1,423 $1,259 $845

Group Parent

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

5. TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables 7,124 6,372 7,124 819

Provision for doubtful debts (304) - (304) -

6,820 6,372 6,820 3,076

Prepayments 123 225 123 111

Prudential security bond 1,476 1,112 1,476 1,112

$8,419 $7,709 $8,419 $4,299

As at 31 March 2014 Group trade receivables of $1,160k (2013: $556k) were past due and a provision for doubtful debts of $304k was 
recognised in the accounts. As at 31 March 2014 Parent trade receivables of $1,160k (2013: $Nil) were past due and a provision for doubtful 
debts of $304k was recognised in the accounts.
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Group Parent

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

6. INVENTORIES

Consumable 1,117 717 1,117 -

Carbon Credit Units 73 73 73 -

$1,190 $790 $1,190 -

Group Parent

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

7. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND (LIABILITIES)

Financial Assets

Current

Electricity hedge contracts (i) 283 758 283 759

Interest swap contracts (iii) 1,232 - 1,232 -

$1,515 $758 $1,515 $759

Non-Current

Electricity hedge contracts subject to net settlement (i)(ii) 40 - 40 -

Electricity hedge contracts (i) 708 1,070 708 1,070

$748 $1,070 $748 $1,070

$2,263 $1,828 $2,263 $1,829

Financial Liabilities

Current

Electricity hedge contracts subject to net settlement (i)(ii) 145 53 145 -

Electricity hedge contracts (i) 20 - 20 -

Foreign currency forward contracts – fair value through profit and loss - 10 - 10

Interest swap contracts (iii) - 656 - 656

165 719 165 666

$165 $719 $165 $719

(i). The electricity hedge contracts designated at fair value through the profit or loss represent gains and losses on contracts not 
designated in an effective hedge relationship.

(ii). The group enters into electricity hedge contracts in the ASX market through its broker OMF. These are both buy and sell hedges. Per 
the agreement with OMF, the Group has the right to set-off these contracts.

(iii). The interest rate swap contracts are designated as effective hedges.
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8. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March are as follows: 

Ownership interests and voting 
rights

Name of subsidiary
Place of incorporation (or 
registration) and operation Principal activity

2014
%

2013
%

Flat Hill Wind Farm Limited New Zealand Energy Generation 100 -

Energy For Industry Limited New Zealand Energy Generation - 100

9. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Flat Hill Wind Farm
On 7 November, 2013 the Company purchased 100% of the shares in Flat Hill Wind Farm Limited, an entity in the energy sector. The cost of 
the acquisition was $650,000 and was paid in cash.

2014
$000

2013
$000

Flat Hill Wind Farm Limited

Total purchase consideration 650 -

Less: cash and bank balances acquired - -

Net cash outflow on acquisition $650 -

Analysis of assets and liabilities acquired – Flat Hill Wind Farm Limited
Flat Hill Wind Farm Limited

Book value Fair value Fair value on 
acquisition

$’000 $’000 $’000

Intangible Asset - Consent - 650 650

Impact of acquisition on the results of the group – Flat Hill Wind Farm Limited
There was no impact on profit for the 2014 year, nor would there have been had the acquisition occurred on 1 April, 2013, as a result of the 
acquisition of Flat Hill Wind Farm Limited.

Energy For Industry Limited 
2014 
$000

2013 
$000

Total purchase consideration - 56,297

Less: cash and bank balances acquired - (4,851)

Net cash outflow on acquisition - $51,446
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9. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONT).

Analysis of assets and liabilities acquired – Energy For Industry Limited (2013)
Financial information in respect of the net assets acquired on acquisition of Energy for Industry Limited (2013) is set out below:

Energy for Industry Limited

Book value
Fair value 

adjustment
Fair value 

on acquisition
$’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 4,851 - 4,851

Trade and other receivables 2,984 - 2,984

Inventories 1,083 - 1,083

Non-current assets:
Intangible Asset  (Note 13) 5,338 705 6,043

Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 11) 40,075 4,879 44,954

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables (3,337) (72) (3,409)

Other financial liabilities (106) - (106)

Non-current liabilities:
Deferred tax liabilities (1,465) - (1,465)

49,423 5,512 54,935

Goodwill on acquisition 
(Note 12) 1,362

56,297

Goodwill Arising on Acquisition - Energy For Industry Limited (2013)
Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Energy for Industry Limited because the consideration paid for the combination effectively included 
amounts in relation to a deferred tax liability which was recognised due to Energy for Industry Limited not having been granted exemption 
from tax at the date of acquisition.  

Subsequent to acquisition date, in line with the Company’s tax status, Energy for Industry Limited was granted exemption from Income Tax, 
with charitable status effective from 21 December, 2012. (Refer Note 12). 

Impact of Acquisition on the results of the Group - Energy For Industry Limited (2013)
Included in the Group profit for the 2013 year is $1.814 million (including the income tax benefit) attributable to the additional business 
generated by Energy for Industry Limited.

Had the business combination been effected at 1 April 2012, the revenue of the Group from continuing operations would have been 
$44.107 million (2013), and the profit for the 2013 year from continuing operations would have been $12.694 million. 
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10. AMALGAMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 1 July 2013 Pioneer Generation Limited amalgamated its wholly owned subsidiary Energy For Industry Limited.

The assets and liabilities amalgamated are summarised as follows:

$’000
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 783

Trade and other receivables 6,383

Inventories 777

Non-current assets:
Intangible Asset  (Note 13) 6,096

Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 11) 45,175

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables (1,446)

Other financial liabilities (142)

Net Assets $57,626

Pioneer Generation Investment in EFI $56,297

Effect of amalgamation of EFI $1,329



11. PROPERTY PLANT & EQUIPMENT

GROUP Cost 
1 April, 2013 Additions Disposals

Transfers from 
Capital Work In 

Progress

Cost 31 March, 
2014 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
& Impairment 

Charges 1 April, 
2013

Impairment 
Losses Charged 

in Income 
Statement

Depreciation 
Expense

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
Reversed on 

Disposal

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
& Impairment 
Charges 31 
March 2014

Carrying Value 
31 March, 2014

2014 $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000 $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Land 4,383 - - 92 4,475 2 - - - 2 4,473

Land improvements 912 - - 27 939 232 - 32 - 264 675

Buildings and civil assets 37,248 - 20 1,602 38,830 7,835 - 733 12 8,556 30,274

Computer equipment 789 - - 39 828 462 - 96 - 558 270

Furniture and fittings 162 - 1 124 285 39 - 18 1 56 229

Generation plant 50,791 - - 455 51,246 11,734 - 2,637 - 14,371 36,875

Heat Plant 29,764 - - 9,782 39,546 - - 2,819 - 2,819 36,727

Motor Vehicles 1,929 - 154 132 1,907 651 - 254 151 754 1,153

Office equipment 74 - - 14 88 48 - 8 - 56 32

Other equipment and tools 2,613 - - 93 2,706 1,056 - 171 - 1,227 1,479

Total $128,665 - $175 $12,360 $140,850 $22,059 - $6,768 $164 $28,663 $112,187

Capital Work in Progress 9,804 4,027 - (12,360) 1,471 - - - - - 1,471

Total Property, Plant & 
Equipment $138,469 $4,027 $175 - $142,321 $22,059 - $6,768 $164 $28,663 $113,658

During the period the Company elected to undertake a valuation of its total operating assets (which primarily relate to generation and heat plant) carried at cost in the financial statements. The 
valuation was performed at 31 March 2014 and the assessed value at this date was $182.2 million,  of which $174 million related to generation and heat plant.

The fair value of the generation and heat assets of $174 million was determined using a discounted cash flow model.  The valuation was based on the present value of the estimated future cash flows of 
the assets.  The valuation was prepared by independent valuers Northington Partners which has the appropriate qualifications and experience in valuing generation and heat assets.

The key assumptions and judgements in the valuation model were:

• The life of the generation assets are deemed to be 40 years with no residual values. The life of the heat assets are based on existing contract lengths with a maximum of 20 years.

• The WACC for generation is estimated to be 9.25%, expressed on a post-tax nominal basis. The WACC for heat assets is estimated to be between 9.0% and 11.5%, expressed on a post-tax nominal 
basis.

• General inflation over the life of the project of 2.25% has been assumed.

• Forecast hedged generation prices are based on output prices using existing hedge contracts.

• Annual average generation of 213.8 GWh has been assumed.
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11. PROPERTY PLANT & EQUIPMENT (CONT).

GROUP Cost 
1 April, 2012 Additions Disposals

Acquisition 
in business 

combination

Transfers from 
Capital Work In 

Progress

Cost 31 
March, 2013

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
& Impairment 

Charges 1 April, 
2012

Impairment 
Losses Charged 

in Income 
Statement

Depreciation 
Expense

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
Reversed on 

Disposal

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
& Impairment 
Charges 31 
March 2013

Carrying Value 
31 March, 2013

2013 $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000 $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000 $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Land 2,877 974 - 533 - 4,384 1 - - - 1 4,383

Land improvements 778 135 - - - 913 216 - 17 - 233 680

Buildings and civil assets 35,659 68 24 814 732 37,249 7,179 - 670 13 7,836 29,413

Computer equipment 720 70 - - - 790 405 - 57 - 462 328

Furniture and fittings 127 36 - - - 163 33 - 5 - 38 125

Generation plant 29,844 - - 7,659 13,286 50,789 8,238 - 2,973 - 11,211 39,578

Heat Plant - - - 29,764 - 29,764 - - - - - 29,764

Motor Vehicles 1,731 321 124 - - 1,928 624 - 144 117 651 1,277

Office equipment 48 25 - - - 73 39 - 8 - 47 26

Other equipment and 
tools 2,137 475 - - - 2,612 907 - 149 - 1,056 1,556

Total $73,921 $2,104 $148 $38,770 $14,018 $128,665 $17,642 - $4,023 $130 $21,535 $107,130

Capital Work in Progress 15,069 2,569 - 6,184 (14,018) 9,804 - - - - - 9,804

Total Property, Plant & 
Equipment $89,990 $4,673 $148 $44,954 - $138,469 $17,642 - $4,023 $130 $21,535 $116,934

PIONEER GENERATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014 | PG. 25



11. PROPERTY PLANT & EQUIPMENT (CONT).

PARENT Cost 
1 April, 2013

Additions Disposals Transfers on 
amalgamation 

of subsidiary

Transfers from 
Capital Work 
In Progress

Cost 31 
March, 2014

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
& Impairment 

Charges 1 
April, 2013

Depreciation 
Expense

Transfers on 
amalgamation 

of subsidiary

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
Reversed on 

Disposal

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
& Impairment 
Charges 31 
March 2014

Carrying 
Value 31 

March, 2014

2014 $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000 $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000 $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Land 3,850 - - 533 92 4,475 2 - - - 2 4,473

Land improvements 912 - - - 27 939 232 16 16 - 264 675

Buildings and civil assets 36,434 - 20 814 1,602 38,830 7,835 669 64 12 8,556 30,274

Computer equipment 789 - - - 39 828 462 57 39 - 558 270

Furniture and fittings 162 - 1 - 124 285 39 6 12 1 56 229

Generation plant 40,868 - - 9,923 455 51,246 8,122 4,844 1,405 - 14,371 36,875

Heat Plant - - - 29,764 9,782 39,546 - - 2,819 - 2,819 36,727

Motor Vehicles 1,929 - 154 - 132 1,907 651 145 109 151 754 1,153

Office equipment 74 - - - 14 88 48 8 - - 56 32

Other equipment and tools 2,613 - - - 93 2,706 1,056 150 21 - 1,227 1,479

Total $87,631 - $175 $41,034 $12,360 $140,850 $18,447 $5,895 $4,485 $164 $28,663 $112,187

Capital Work in Progress 1,178 4,027 - 8,626 (12,360) 1,471 - - - - - 1,471

Total Property, Plant & 
Equipment $88,809 $4,027 $175 $49,660 - $142,321 $18,447 $5,895 $4,485 $164 $28,663 $113,658
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11. PROPERTY PLANT & EQUIPMENT (CONT).

PARENT Cost 
1 April, 2012

Additions Disposals Transfers from 
Capital Work 
In Progress

Cost 31 
March, 2013

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
& Impairment 

Charges 1 
April, 2012

Impairment 
Losses 

Charged in 
Income 

Statement

Depreciation 
Expense

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
Reversed on 

Disposal

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
& Impairment 
Charges 31 
March 2013

Carrying 
Value 31 

March, 2013

2013 $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000 $’000s $’000s $’000 $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Land 2,877 974 - - 3,850 1 - - - 1 3,849

Land improvements 777 135 - - 913 216 - 17 - 233 680

Buildings and civil assets 36,659 68 24 732 36,433 8,357 - 670 13 9,014 27,419

Computer equipment 720 70 - - 790 405 - 57 - 462 328

Furniture and fittings 127 36 - - 163 33 - 5 - 38 125

Generation plant 27,582 - - 13,286 40,869 4,796 - 2,149 - 6,945 33,924

Heat Plant - - - - - - - - - - -

Motor Vehicles 1,731 321 124 - 1,928 624 - 144 117 651 1,277

Office equipment 48 25 - - 73 39 - 8 - 47 26

Other equipment and tools 2,137 475 - - 2,612 907 - 149 - 1,056 1,556

Total $71,658 $2,104 $148 $14,018 $87,632 $15,378 - $3,199 $130 $18,447 $69,185

Capital Work in Progress 15,069 127 - (14,018) 1,178 - - - - - 1,178

Total Property, Plant & Equipment $86,727 $2,231 $148 - $88,810 $15,378 - $3,199 $130 $18,447 $70,363
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12. GOODWILL

Group Parent

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Cost

Balance at the beginning of the year - - - -

Additional amounts recognised from business combinations - 1,362 - -

Reduction arising from achievement of Charitable Status for tax reversing

deferred tax liability previously recognised on acquisition - (1,362) - -

Balance at the end of the year - - - -

Accumulated impairment losses

Balance at the beginning of the year - - - -

Impairment losses charged to Income Statement - - - -

Balance at the end of the year - - - -

Carrying Amount - - - -

Subsequent to acquisition, Energy for Industry Limited was granted exemption from Income Tax under Section CW 42(1) of the Income 
Tax Act 2007.  Charitable status was effective from 21 December, 2012.  Upon achieving this tax exempt status, the deferred tax liability 
recognised on acquisition was effectively reversed, resulting in a reduction in goodwill.
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13.  OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group Software
$000

Customer 
Contract

$000

Silverstream
Rights

$000

Customer 
Acquisition 

$000

Flathill 
Consent

$000

Total
$000

Balance at 31 March, 2012 260 - - - - 260

Additions 313 - - - - 313

Acquisitions through business combination 288 527 2,769 2,459 - 6,043

Balance at 31 March, 2013 861 527 2,769 2,459 - 6,616

Additions 194 - - - 650 844

Balance at 31 March, 2014 1,055 527 2,769 2,459 650 7,460

Accumulated Amortisation & Impairment
Balance at 31 March, 2012 (119) - - - - (119)

Amortisation (121) (11) (31) (86) - (249)

Balance at 31 March, 2013 (241) (11) (31) (86) - (368)

Amortisation (399) (41) (110) (380) - (930)

Balance at 31 March, 2014 (640) (52) (141) (465) - (1,298)

Carrying Amount
At 31 March, 2013 621 516 2,738 2,373 - 6,248

At 31 March, 2014 415 475 2,628 1,994 650 6,162

Parent Software
$000

Customer 
Contract

$000

Silverstream
Rights

$000

Customer 
Acquisition 

$000

Flathill 
Consent

$000

Total
$000

Balance at 31 March, 2012 260 - - - - 260

Additions 36 - - - - 36

Balance at 31 March, 2013 296 - - - - 296

Additions 194 - - - - 194

Amalgamation of subsidery 565 527 2,769 2,459 - 6,320

Balance at 31 March, 2014 1,055 527 2,769 2,459 - 6,810

Accumulated Amortisation & Impairment
Balance at 31 March, 2012 (119) - - - - (119)

Amortisation (25) - - - - (25)

Balance at 31 March, 2013 (144) - - - - (144)

Amortisation (399) (41) (110) (380) - (930)

Amalgamation of subsidery (97) (11) (31) (85) - (224)

Balance at 31 March, 2014 (640) (52) (141) (465) - (1,298)

Carrying Amount
At 31 March, 2013 152 - - - - 152

At 31 March, 2014 415 475 2,628 1,994 - 5,512

The Silverstream Rights asset will be fully amortised in 24.5 years. 
The Customer Acquisition asset will be fully amortised in 6.5 years.  
The Customer Contract asset will be fully amortised in 13 years.
The Flathill consent will be fully amortised in 29 years. 
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Group Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

14. TRADE PAYABLES
Trade payables 1,479 1,235 1,479 537

$1,479 $1,235 $1,479 $537

15. ACCRUALS
Employee benefits 870 453 870 145

Accrued expenses 3,033 3,500 3,033 891

$3,903 $3,953 $3,903 $1,036

16. BANK BORROWINGS
Parent and Group

Loan Number Maturity Date Weighted Average 
Interest Rates

2014 2013

Or Facility Term 2014 2013 $000 $000

BNZ Loan 2 24/12/2013 - 9.09% - 5,000

BNZ Loan 6 31/03/2014 - 7.12% - 5,000

BNZ Term Facility 20/03/2017 4.79% 4.53% 27,500 27,500

Cash Advance Facility 20/03/2017 4.75% 4.54% 31,100 22,500

$58,600 $60,000

Group Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Secured Bank Loan Facility
Amount Used 58,600 60,000 58,600 60,000

Amount Unused 21,900 20,000 21,900 20,000

$80,500 $80,000 $80,500 $80,000

The Group has a Facilities Agreement with the Bank of New Zealand that provides a revolving cash advance facility with a limit of $52.5m 
and a term facility of $27.5m.  A bank overdraft facility of $500,000 and a visa credit limit of $150,000 is also provided by the Bank of New 
Zealand.
The facility term is for a period of three years with an annual option by notice to request an extension for a further year. 
The loan, term facility and the cash advance facility are secured by way of a debenture over the Company’s assets and undertakings.  
The cash advance facility is drawn down as required to cover shortfalls in day-to-day operating cash flows.  
The Company and Group has complied with all bank covenants set by the Bank of New Zealand during the year.
In addition interest rate derivative swap facilities have been entered into.  The maximum aggregated interest rate swap limit is $65m, with 
up to $20m 3years, $20m 5 years and $35m 10 years. Refer to Note 21 for details of interest rate swaps at year end.
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17. REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE SHARES
Group Parent

2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000

Redeemable Preference Shares - 8,500 - 8,500

- $8,500 - $8,500

The Redeemable Preference Shares were converted to ordinary shares on 30 September, 2013 at an issue price of $1 per share on the 
approval of the Central Lakes Trust.

18. PREFERENCE SHARES
Group Parent

2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Preference Shares - 27,500 - 27,500

- $27,500 - $27,500

The Preference Shares were converted to ordinary shares on 30 September, 2013 at an issue price of $1 per share on the approval of the 
Central Lakes Trust.

Group Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000

19. EQUITY

Share Capital
71,000,000 ordinary shares (2013: 35,000,000) (i) 71,000 35,000 71,000 35,000

$71,000 $35,000 $71,000 $35,000

(i) Ordinary shares are fully paid and carry equal voting and distribution rights.

(ii) Dividends totalling $5,687,500 were declared and paid during the year to the Central Lakes Trust at the combined rate of 8.0105  
 cents per share (2013: $4,587,000 paid at the rate of 13.106 cents per share). 

Retained Earnings

Balance at beginning of financial year (1,084) (6,972) (1,490) (6,972)

Net surplus after taxation 4,402 10,475 3,479 10,069

Dividends paid (ii) (5,688) (4,587) (5,688) (4,587)

Effect of amalgamation of EFI - - 1,329 -

Balance at end of financial year $(2,370) $(1,084) $(2,370) $(1,490)
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19.  EQUITY (CONT.)
Group Parent

2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Hedge Reserve

Balance at beginning of financial year (656) (11) (656) (11)

Movement in hedge reserve during year 1,888 (645) 1,888 (645)

Balance at end of year $1,232 $(656) $1,232 $(656)

Closing Equity at end of financial year $69,862 $33,260 $69,862 $32,854

20. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in bank.  Cash and cash equivalents 
at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statements is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial 
Position as follows:

Group Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Cash and cash equivalents 2,195 1,583 2,195 421

$2,195 $1,583 $2,195 $421

(b)  Reconciliation of profit for the period to net cash flows from operating activities
Group Parent

2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Net surplus after tax 4,402 10,475 3,479 10,069

Loss on sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 6 8 6

Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment 7,698 4,238 6,825 3,224

Depreciation recovered on property, plant and equipment (26) 77 (26) (12)

Reduction in goodwill - 1,362 - -

(Gain)/loss on derivative financial instruments 899 (2,994) 815 (2,921)

Reversal of deferred tax liability - (1,530) - -

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Trade and other receivables (710) (5,407) (4,120) (1,997)

Work in progress 75 (70) 75 (70)

Inventories (400) (790) (1,190) -

Taxation receivable (122) - (122) -

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Trade payables 244 653 (3,285) 2,296

Accruals (50) 3,155 2,867 238

Add/(deduct) items included in investing activities:

Effect of Amalgamation - - 6,103 -

Prudential Bond 363 1,838 363 1,112

Net cash from operating activities $12,381 $11,013 $11,792 $11,945
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial Risk Management Objectives
The Company and Group is primarily exposed to market risk 
(including electricity prices, interest rates and currency), credit risk, 
and liquidity risk.
The Company and Group seeks to minimise the effects of the 
exposure to market risk by using derivative financial instruments to 
hedge exposures to electricity spot prices, floating interest rates 
and currency.  The use of derivatives is governed by the Group’s 
treasury policy.
Further details related to specific areas of risk are noted below.

Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company 
and Group to a credit risk principally consist of bank balances, 
receivables, investments and electricity price hedge contracts.

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Group to 
concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of bank balances 
and receivables.

The credit risk of financial instruments is limited because the 
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by 
credit-rating agencies.

The Directors have no reason to believe that the company’s trade 
receivables are unrecoverable other than to the extent already 
provided for in the accounts.

Cash balances are held with Registered Banks, with surplus funds 
being deposited with banks for short terms.

No security or collateral is held by the Group in respect of any 
receivables. The maximum exposure of credit risk is the carrying 
value of cash & cash equivalents and trade receivables. 

Interest Rate Risk
The Company and Group is exposed to interest rate risk as 
borrowing are at both fixed and floating interest rates.  The risk is 
managed by the Group by the use of interest rate swap contracts.  

Liquidity Risk Management
The Company and Group  manages liquidity risk by maintaining 
adequate reserves, fixed term banking facilities and floating 
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows and by taking out adequate insurance to cover 
unanticipated events.

Note 16 includes details of additional undrawn banking facilities.
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21.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT).

Exposure and Concentration of Credit Risk and Liquidity Profile

The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows for non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities.

Group - 2014 Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate

CCAF 
Interest 

Rate

Carrying 
Value

Contractual 
Cashflows

Less than 1 
year

1 - 2 years 2 - 3 years 3 - 4 
years

4 - 5 
years

5+ years Non 
Interest 
Bearing

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Cash & cash 
equivalents

- - 2,195 - - - - - - - 2,195

Trade & other 
receivables

- - 8,419 8,419 - - - - - - 8,419

Trade payables - - (1,480) (1,480) - - - - - - (1,480)
Bank Borrowings 4.77% 4.77% (58,600) (66,984) (2,795) (2,795) (61,394) - - - -
Other Borrowings - - - - - - - - - - -

(49,466) (60,045) (2,795) (2,795) (61,394) - - - 9,134

Group - 2013 Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate

CCAF 
Interest 

Rate

Carrying 
Value

Contractual 
Cashflows

Less than 1 
year

1 - 2 years 2 - 3 years 3 - 4 
years

4 - 5 
years

5+ years Non 
Interest 
Bearing

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Cash & cash 
equivalents

- - 1,583 - - - - - - - 1,583

Trade & other 
receivables

- - 7,709 7,709 - - - - - - 7,709

Trade payables - - (1,235) (1,235) - - - - - - (1,235)
Bank Borrowings 8.11% 4.54% (60,000) (68,460) (3,020) (2,720) (62,720) - - - -
Other Borrowings 6.74% - (36,000) (20,603) (2,425) (7,331) (5,484) (1,788) (1,788) (1,788) -

(87,943) (82,589) (5,445) (10,052) (68,205) (1,788) (1,788) (1,788) 8,057

Parent - 2014 Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate

CCAF 
Interest 

Rate

Carrying 
Value

Contractual 
Cashflows

Less than 1 
year

1 - 2 years 2 - 3 years 3 - 4 
years

4 - 5 
years

5+ years Non 
Interest 
Bearing

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Cash & cash 
equivalents

- - 2,195 - - - - - - - 2,195

Trade & other 
receivables

- - 8,419 8,419 - - - - - - 8,419

Trade payables - - (1,480) (1,480) - - - - - - (1,480)
Bank Borrowings 4.77% 4.77% (58,600) (66,984) (2,795) (2,795) (61,394) - - - -
Other Borrowings - - - - - - - - - - -

(49,466) (60,045) (2,795) (2,795) (61,394) - - - 9,134

Parent - 2013 Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate

CCAF 
Interest 

Rate

Carrying 
Value

Contractual 
Cashflows

Less than 1 
year

1 - 2 years 2 - 3 years 3 - 4 
years

4 - 5 
years

5+ years Non 
Interest 
Bearing

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Cash & cash 
equivalents

- - 421 - - - - - - - 421

Trade & other 
receivables

- - 4,299 4,299 - - - - - - 4,299

Trade payables - - (537) (537) - - - - - - (537)
Bank Borrowings 8.11% 4.54% (60,000) (68,460) (3,020) (2,720) (62,720) - - - -
Other Borrowings 6.74% - (36,000) (20,603) (2,425) (7,331) (5,484) (1,788) (1,788) (1,788) -

(91,817) (85,301) (5,445) (10,052) (68,205) (1,788) (1,788) (1,788) 4,183
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21.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT).

Fair Value
The fair value of the Statement of Financial Position financial instruments is assessed by the directors to be equivalent to their carrying 
values.

Currency Risk
The Company and Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts in order to manage its exposure to fluctuations in foreign 
currency exchange rates on specific transactions.  The contracts are matched with future cash outflows of foreign currencies primarily for 
capital commitments and maintenance contracts.

Group Market Price Nominal Contract Value Fair Value

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $ $ $

Less than 12 months - 150,164 - 159,430 - (9,266)

- 150,164 - 159,430 - (9,266)

Parent Market Price Nominal Contract Value Fair Value
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $ $ $
Less than 12 months - 150,164 - 159,430 - (9,266)

- 150,164 - 159,430 - (9,266)

Any gain or losses are recognised in the Income Statement.

Electricity Price Risk
The Group enters into electricity price hedges with counterparties.  Under these agreements, the Group agrees with the counter parties 
a fixed price (hedge price) for a percentage of its estimated electricity output. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into any speculative 
position in relation to electricity price hedging contracts.

On maturity of the electricity price hedge any difference between the hedge price and the spot market price is settled between the 
parties.  Settlement occurs irrespective of the amount of electricity actually supplied.  If the spot market price is less than the hedged price, 
electricity counter parties must settle the difference with the Group.  Conversely if the spot market price is greater than the hedge price, 
the Group must settle the difference with electricity counter parties.

Group Fair Value of Forward Hedge Price Hedge Generation Output Fair Value
($/MWh) (MWh) $ $ 

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Less than 12 months 1.59 6.20 74,476 113,751 118,109 704,964

1 – 2 years 11.52 8.16 32,264 79,040 371,614 645,351

2 – 3 years 20.78 8.71 18,122 22,834 376,570 198,887

3 – 4 years - 12.55 - 17,976 - 225,587

4 – 5 years - - - - - -

5+ year - - - - - -

124,862 233,601 $866,293 $1,774,790

Parent Fair Value of Forward Hedge Price Hedge Generation Output Fair Value
($/MWh) (MWh) $ $ 

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Less than 12 months 1.59 7.08 74,476 107,151 118,109 758,646

1 – 2 years 11.52 8.16 32,264 79,040 371,614 645,351

2 – 3 years 20.78 8.71 18,122 22,834 376,570 198,887

3 – 4 years - 12.55 - 17,976 - 225,587

4 – 5 years - - - - - -
5+ year - - - - - -

124,862 227,001 $866,293 $1,828,471



PIONEER GENERATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014 | PG. 36

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)
Fair Value Hierarchy Disclosures
For those instruments recognised at fair value in the statement of financial position, fair values are determined according to the following 
hierarchy:
• Quoted market price (level 1) – Financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
• Valuation technique using observable inputs (level 2) – Financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments in active 

markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments valued using models where 
all significant inputs are observable.

• Valuation techniques with significant non-observable inputs (level 3) – Financial instruments valued using models where one or more 
significant inputs are not observable.

The following table analyses the basis of the valuation of classes of financial instruments measured at fair value in the statement of financial 
position.

Group Total
Quoted Market 

Price

Valuation 
Technique 

Observable Inputs
Significant non-

observable inputs
31 March 2014 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Liabilities
Electricity hedge contracts - subject to net settlement (145) - (145) -

Electricity hedge contracts (20) - (20) -

Financial Assets
Electricity hedge contracts 991 - 215 776

Interest rate swaps 1,232 - 1,232 -

Electricity hedge contracts - subject to net settlement 40 - 40 -

31 March 2013

Financial Liabilities
Foreign currency forward contracts (10) - (10) -

Interest rate swaps (656) - (656) -

Electricity hedge contracts (53) - (53) -

Financial Assets
Electricity hedge contracts 1,828 - 947 881

Parent Total
Quoted Market 

Price

Valuation 
Technique 

Observable Inputs
Significant non-

observable inputs
31 March 2014 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Liabilities
Electricity hedge contracts - subject to net settlement (145) - (145) -

Electricity hedge contracts (20) - (20) -

Financial Assets
Electricity hedge contracts 991 - 215 776

Interest rate swaps 1,232 - 1,232 -

Electricity hedge contracts - subject to net settlement 40 - 40 -

31 March 2013

Financial Liabilities
Foreign currency forward contracts (10) - (10) -

Interest rate swaps (656) - (656) -

Electricity hedge contracts - - - -

Financial Assets
Electricity hedge contracts 1,828 - 947 881

There were no transfers between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

Valuation technique with significant non-observable inputs (level 3)
The table below provides a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance for the level 3 fair value measurements:

Group Parent

2014 2013 2014 2013

Balance at 1 April 881 1,110 881 1,110

Gain and losses recognised in the surplus or deficit (105) 229 (105) 229

Balance at 31 March $776 $881 $776 $881

Changing a valuation assumption to a reasonable possible alternative assumption would not significantly change fair value.

Significant assumptions used in determining fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Interest Rate Swaps
The revaluation of interest rate swaps is based on the forward interest rate price curve discounted at the forward interest rate price curve 
at balance date.

Electricity Price Hedges
The valuation of electricity price hedges in level two is based on the ASX forward price curve that relates to the derivative.

The valuation of electricity price hedges in level three is based on a forecasted generation output based on two years of historical wind 
data and the ASX forward price curve. 

Sensitivity Analysis

Electricity Price Hedges
The following table summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the relevant forward prices on the Company and Group’s post-tax 
profit for the year.  The sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that the relevant forward prices had increased/decreased by 10% 
with all other variables held constant.

Group Parent

2014
+10%
$000

2014
-10%
$000

2014
+10%
$000

2014
-10%
$000

Net surplus 4,402 4,402 3,479 3,479

Sensitivity impact to net surplus (1,042) 1,042 (1,042) 1,042

Net surplus after sensitivity impact $5,444 $3,360 $4,521 $2,437

Group Parent

2013
+10%
$000

2013
-10%
$000

2013
+10%
$000

2013
-10%
$000

Net surplus 10,475 10,475 10,069 10,069

Sensitivity impact to net surplus (1,662) 1,863 (1,658) 1,765

Net surplus after sensitivity impact $8,813 $12,338 $8,411 $11,834
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)
Foreign Currency Contracts

Group Parent
2014

+10%
$000

2014
-10%
$000

2014
+10%
$000

2014
-10%
$000

Net surplus 4,402 4,402 3,479 3,479

Sensitivity impact to net surplus - - - -

Net surplus after sensitivity impact 4,402 4,402 3,479 3,479

Group Parent
2013

+10%
$000

2013
-10%
$000

2013
+10%
$000

2013
-10%
$000

Net surplus 10,475 10,475 10,069 10,069

Sensitivity impact to net surplus (16) 16 (16) 16

Net surplus after sensitivity impact $10,459 $10,491 $10,053 $10,085

Interest Rates
The following table summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the relevant interest rates on debt excluding fixed rate loans (if any) 
and loans covered by interest rate swaps on the Company and Group’s post-tax profit for the year, and assumes the exposure at 31 March 
2014 was outstanding for the whole year.  The sensitivity analysis is based on debt at 31 March, 2014

Group Parent
2014

+10%
$000

2014
-10%
$000

2014
+10%
$000

2014
-10%
$000

Net surplus 4,402 4,402 3,479 3,479

Sensitivity impact to net surplus (99) 99 (99) 99

Net surplus after sensitivity impact 4,303 4,501 3,380 3,578

Group Parent
2013

+10%
$000

2013
-10%
$000

2013
+10%
$000

2013
-10%
$000

Net surplus 10,475 10,475 10,069 10,069

Sensitivity impact to net surplus (102) 102 (102) 102

Net surplus after sensitivity impact $10,373 $10,577 $9,967 $10,171

Interest Rate Swap Contracts
The interest rate swaps settle the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis on a quarterly basis. All interest rate 
swap contracts exchanging floating interest amounts for floating interest amounts are designated as cash flow hedges in order to reduce 
the Group’s cash flow exposure resulting from floating interest rate borrowings.  The interest rate swaps and the interest payments on the 
loans occur simultaneously and the amount deferred in equity is recognised in the Income Statement over the period that the floating rate 
interest payments on the debt impact the Income Statement.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)
GROUP Average Contracted 

Interest Rate
Notional Principal Fair Value

2014
%

2013
%

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Less than 1 year - - - - - -

1 –  2 years - - - - - -

2 – 5 years  3.80% 3.58% 24,800 19,800 523 (326)

5 + years  3.58% 4.19% 13,000 18,000 709 (330)

Balance at 31 March $37,800 $37,800 $1,232 $(656)

Parent Average Contracted 
Interest Rate

Notional Principal Fair Value

2014
%

2013
%

2014
$000

2013
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Less than 1 year - - - - - -

1 –  2 years - - - - - -

2 – 5 years  3.80% 3.58% 24,800 19,800 523 (326)

5 + years  3.58% 4.19% 13,000 18,000 709 (330)

Balance at 31 March $37,800 $37,800 $1,232 $(656)

Capital Risk Management
The Company and Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to 
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.  The overall strategy remains unchanged from the 2013 year.

The capital structure of the Company and Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 16, cash and cash 
equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued capital, a hedging reserve and retained earnings 
as disclosed in Note 19.

22. COMMITMENTS
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2014, there was no unspent commitment (2013: $nil)

NON CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Group Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Less than one year 577 393 577 158

One to two years 559 384 559 158

Two to five years 1,329 831 1,329 419

Over five years 6,934 5,061 6,934 4,664

$9,399 $6,669 $9,399 $5,400



PIONEER GENERATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014 | PG. 40

22. COMMITMENTS (CONT.)
OTHER NON CANCELLABLE CONTRACTS

The Company and Group has entered into non-cancellable contracts for the provision of services such as the use of electricity system 
line functions, the supply of metering equipment & data services and operations contracts with a range of renewal options.  Details of the 
commitments under the contracts are as follows:

Group Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Less than one year 798 554 798 554

One to two years 743 527 743 527

Two to five years 1,607 1,552 1,607 1,552

Over five years - 428 - 428

$3,148 $3,060 $3,148 $3,060

Total non cancellable operating commitments $12,547 $9,729 $12,547 $8,460

23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The company has the following contingent liabilities under letters of credit:

Group Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Polson Higgs 200 200 200 200

$200 $200 $200 $200

The Company and Group provides a guarantee in favour of Westpac Banking Corporation of $818,000 (2013: $518,000) in relation to 
security over energy purchases from the New Zealand energy market clearing manager. They also provide a guarantee in favour of Motor 
Trade Offices Limited of $51,415 (2013: $51,415).

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Pioneer Generation is in the business of retail energy sales.  Retail customers include The Central Lakes Trust, and members of Pioneers 
senior staff.  These transactions are in the normal course of business.  

Transactions with key management personnel

Director Stuart Heal’s son is the owner of Hub Consulting. For the year ended 31 March, 2014, Pioneer Generation Limited had incurred $nil 
of services from this provider (2013: $1,840) 

During the current year, the company acquired Flat Hill Wind Farm Limited of which Warren McNabb was a director and shareholder. 
Warren McNabb became a director of Pioneer Generation Limited in July 2013 prior to the acquisition of Flat Hill Wind Farm Limited.

Transactions with parent entity

During the current year, 27,500,000 preference shares and 8,500,000 redeemable preference shares all converted to ordinary shares to 
its Parent the Central Lakes Trust as disclosed in note 17 and 18 of the financial statements bringing the total ordinary shares on issue to 
71,000,000. 

During the current year, dividends of $5,687,500 (2013: $4,587,000) were paid to the Central Lakes Trust. There have been no other 
transactions between Pioneer Generation Limited and its Parent during the current year.

Transactions with subsidiary

At 31 March 2013, Pioneer Generation has an intercompany payable due to its subsidiary (Energy For Industry Limited) of $2,342,936.

At 31 March 2013 a bank account operated by Energy for Industry contained $851,110 which is held in the name of Pioneer Generation 
Limited.  Accordingly this amount is owed by Energy for Industry to Pioneer Generation at balance date and effectively represents a 
reduction by $851,100 of the intercompany payable noted above.
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AUDIT REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PIONEER GENERATION LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Pioneer Generation Limited and group on pages 7 to 40, which comprise the
consolidated and separate statements of financial position of Pioneer Generation Limited, as at 31 March 2014, the
consolidated and separate income statements, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 
statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

This report is made solely to the company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 205(1) of the Companies 
Act 1993.  Our audit has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s shareholders those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practice in New Zealand and that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate, and for such 
internal control as the Board of Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing and International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view of the 
matters to which they relate in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates, as well as the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Our firm carries out other assignments for Pioneer Generation Limited in the area of financial advisory services and taxation 
advice.  The firm has no other relationship with, or interest in, Pioneer Generation Limited or any of its subsidiaries. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 7 to 40:
• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;
• comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and 
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Pioneer Generation Limited and group as at 31 March 2014, and 

their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

We also report in accordance with section 16 of the Financial Reporting Act 1993. In relation to our audit of the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2014:
• we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required; and
• in our opinion proper accounting records have been kept by Pioneer Generation Limited as far as appears from our 

examination of those records.

Chartered Accountants
26 May 2014
Dunedin, New Zealand
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